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☐ Conference Committee 

 

Committee Clerk:   DeLores D. Shimek by Marjorie Conley 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
Relating to fleeing or attempting to elude a peace officer; and to provide a penalty 
 

Minutes:                                                  1, 2, 3 

 
Chairman K. Koppelman:  Opened the hearing on HB 1296. 
 
Rep. Mock:  Introduced the bill.  (Attachment #1) Read testimony and went over the bill. 
Stopped 6:00. 
 
Rep. Rick Becker: Subsection C indicates if you are speeding it would fall into that  
category. 
 
Rep. Mock:  We had this conversation ourselves.  The way law enforcement and attorneys 
worded this was that the inherit risk of death or serious injury would not be met.  
 
Rep. Satrom:  Do we have any information that shows this will be a deterrent? 
 
Rep. Mock:  No I don’t have that information.  Law enforcement is here and I would prefer 
they speak about the process and whether this would make it easier for them. 
 
Rep. McWilliams:  How many high speed chases take place in ND? 
 
Rep. Mock:  Other people here have statistics.   
 
Chairman K. Koppelman:  I have a question on the penalties; especially Section 1. d.   
 
Rep. Mock: When we drafted this we wanted it to mirror the statute with aggravated assault.   
 
Chairman K. Koppelman:  There is probably a difference between fleeing an officer 
than someone willfully assaulting someone else.   
 
Rep. Mock:  I trust the judiciary committee would be able to make this a better bill.  I would 
be happy to work with this committee to add maybe willful? 
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Chairman K. Koppelman:  One standard in law is reckless, seems to me to fit 
the circumstance that you are describing, whereas using a vehicle as a weapon 
and purposely targeting someone. 
 

     Rep. Mock:  You are right. That’s where if we need to further clarify, I would be  
     happy to entertain that amendment. 

 
Rep. Vetter:  So we are going ten times or five times in some cases and five times in other 
cases.  Do you think this would deter other people?  Do we need to pass this legislation or 
why are we doing this? 
 
Rep. Mock: Yes, we are creating a tiered charge.  They would have to meet the criteria  
in the last several months where they have been fleeing a scene and causing a safety issue. 
I would defer to law enforcement. 
 
Rep. Jones: Section d where it talks about Class B felony.  
 
Rep. Mock:  On that information alone that would be correct. I don’t want to see the police 
officers saying I followed them through a stop sign. 
 
Rep. Paur:  What would constitute inherent risk of death or serious bodily injury if 
 you are being chased in a residential area when the speed limit is 25 and you 
are pursuing at 50 doesn’t that automatically produce inherit risk of death or bodily  
injury?  
 
Rep. Mock: Yes, it would put inherent risk to the driver.  
 
Rep. Paur:  But you have crossed traffic and that relies on a slower speed. 
 
Rep. Mock:  We need to get law enforcements side. 
 
Rep. McWilliams:   Raising this to a felony, does that carry with it any minimums? 
 
Rep. Mock:  To my knowledge, there would be no mandatory minimums that  
would be associated with this. 
 
Senator Larson:  This is not a solution.  I have the utmost respect for law enforcement.  I 
just wanted to show you this is a serious problem.  Fleeing from a police officer has gotten 
to be more serious and more dangerous.  I am in support of this bill. 
 
Dave Draovitch, Chief of Police, Bismarck, ND:  This is an alarming problem.  This could 
be a tool for us to use.  We need a tool to have some deterrent.  
 
Chairman K. Koppelman: What is the disadvantage of doing that versus having a single 
charge you can levy?  
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Dave Draovitch:  Sometimes some of the other offenses are hard to prove.   
 
Chairman K. Koppelman:  You talk about where pursuit is restrained?  How often 
do you eventually catch these people? 
 
Dave Draovitch:  Not nearly as many as we would like. 
 
Jeff Solemsaas, Lieutenant Bismarck Police Department: (Attachment # 2) Went over 
testimony and did a slide show. 
 
Rep. McWilliams:  What is the typical conviction rate and sentencing? 
 
Jeff Solemsaas:  I did not gather that information. 
 
Rep. McWilliams:  Do you fire into a car? 
 
Rep. Vetter:  How is the law actually going to change things? If you currently aren’t chasing 
them now how will the law change that. 
 
Jeff Solemsaas:  We are limited in our ability to pursue vehicles.   
 
Rep. Vetter:  Since it is just a Class A misdemeanor whereas if it Class A or B felony 
you would follow up? 
 
Jeff Solemsaas:  The current case is not worth our while.  Enhanced penalties would have 
a deterrent effect. 
 
Rep. Satrom:  Do we have any demographics?   
 
Jeff Solemsaas:  I do not have all that information.  I don’t go back to every single one so I 
do not have a demographic breakdown.   
 
Chairman K. Koppelman: In failing to stop versus fleeing, is there a line somewhere  
that delineates between the two? 
 
Jeff Solemsaas:  Discussed. 
 
Chairman K. Koppelman: Can you give us a typical scenario for fleeing?   
 
Jeff Solemsaas:  It is a thoughtful action by the driver. 
 
Steven Rohrer, Benson County Sheriff:  I support this bill. (Attachment # 3) Reading 
testimony. Different instances that happened.   Stopped 55:01.   
 

     Rep. McWilliams:  Are you aware of any law changes that would have contributed to this         
growth. 
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Steven Rohrer:  I think it is just the way people are now, more alcohol and drugs.   
 
Chairman K. Koppelman: If they go onto the reservation, how do you handle that? 
 
Steven Rohrer:  We stop as soon as BIA shows up.  I have only had one incident where the 
judge didn’t get the extradition to them. 
 

     Chairman K. Koppelman:  Any further testimony in support of HB 1296?  Any  
testimony in opposition to HB 1296?  Any neutral informational testimony? 
 
Hearing closed. 
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Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
Relating to fleeing or attempting to elude a peace officer; and to provide a penalty. 
 
 

Minutes:                                                  Attachment 1 

 
Chairman Koppelman:  Opened the meeting on HB 1296.  (Attachment #1) 
 
Rep. McWilliams:  I don’t think that this bill is going to change the way people are 
going to react. 
 
Rep. Rick Becker:  I think the amendment .01001 is good adding willfully. 
 
Rep. Rick Becker made a motion to accept the amendment.  Rep. Roers-Jones  
seconded the motion to accept the amendment.  
 
Voice vote was taken:  Motion carried. 
 
Rep. Hanson:  I don’t like so many tiers.   
 
Chairman K. Koppelman: I share those concerns.  When someone flees the awareness 
that these is a non-pursuit policy they are going to try and flee. 
 
Rep. Vetter:  In real life this will may lock people up a little longer. I don’t see what is will 
really do. They are already able to charge people for different crimes.  I am going to oppose 
this bill. 
 
Rep. Rick Becker: I have concerns on section b., all high speed chases would be felonies 
then.   
 
Chairman K. Koppelman:  I think some parts of this bill are a problem. 
 
Rep. Jones: I don’t like the part about a peace officer so it will automatically make them 
guilty. 
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Rep. McWilliams:  I move that we remove subsection d on HB1296.    
 
Rep. Jones:  Seconded the motion. 
 
Voice vote to remove subsection d.  Motion carries. 
 
Chairman K. Koppelman: A misdemeanor for the first offense;  
 
Rep. Becker:  I move a Do Not Pass as amended.   
 
Rep. Vetter:  Seconded motion. 
 
Rep. Paur:  I vote for Do Not Pass. 
 
Rep. Vetter:  There are other charges that they can be charged with. 
     
Rep. Simons: The court does know how to deal with those offenses accordingly. 
 

     Rep. Hanson:  The testimony was reckless endangerment. 
 
Rep. Karls:  My city council voted unanimously to support this bill, but I don’t always 
agree with my city council. 
 
Roll Call Vote for Do Not Pass  Yes 10  No 3  Absent  1 
 
Rep. Vetter will be the Carrier. 
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Committee Clerk:   DeLores D. Shimek 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
Relating to fleeing or attempting to elude a peace officer; and to provide a penalty. 
 

Minutes:                                                   

 
Chairman K. Koppelman: This bill has been referred to us so the way to get it back before us 
is to be a motion that we reconsider our action whereby we gave a do not pass 
recommendation. 
 
Motion Made by Rep. Roers Jones to reconsider our action; Seconded by Rep. Vetter 
 
Voice Vote Carried 
 
Rep. Vetter:  We had looked at this bill and I received some information afterwards. The way 
it is now if we don’t pass this bill when they are fleeing they get charged with two counts; 
reckless endangerment; which is a C felony and also a fleeing penalty, which is an A 
misdemeanor if it is a first offense under the bill. If we pass the bill, then it will be just a C 
felony.  We are basically streamlining it so it is just one charge instead of the two. 
 
Rep. Bob Paulson:  The comment that had been made was essentially every chase would 
meet the elements of C.  which constitutes the risk of death or serious bodily injury?  Some 
of these in rural areas and the middle of the night there may be a significant number of 
number that don’t rise to that level and this gives them a tool they could tell the difference 
between the two. 
 
Chairman K. Koppelman: The committee did amend out the subsection d on the bill and 
that amendment was already passed on the floor. 
 
Rep. Rick Becker:  We are by doing a do not pass we are countering what we think we are 
doing. I don’t see any evidence of that whatsoever.  I hope that gets flushed out before we 
reverse what we are doing based on hearsay.  If I were to get rid of the underscored language 
and unstruck the struck language, then that reverts to the current law.  I am not sure where 
that plays out. 
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Chairman K. Koppelman: I think it has more to do with common practice than penalty.  
People are often being cited with wreck less endangerment. 
 
Rep. Rick Becker:  The way the law is now if you are fleeing an officer you will get a Class 
a Misdemeanor; this bill would still give you a Class C felony.  We still have the aspect the 
first offense becomes a felony.  I am skeptical of the need to overturn the committee’s original 
recommendation. 
 
Rep. Bob Paulson:  I think the stacking of two charges is the concern.  It would be one less 
charge. 
 
Chairman K. Koppelman:  Sometimes there is a desire to clarify a particular charge in 
statutes so people can actually be sited for that charge rather than trying to grab from 
somewhere else. 
 
Rep. Vetter:  Danny Weigle; the police force in Grand Forks heard the same thing. 
 
Rep. Rick Becker:  Law enforcement is worried about a stacking offense? 
 
Rep. Vetter:  No he is basically they wanted to streamline it to one offense. When it is a 
felony it is up to the states attorney versus them just stacking some A misdemeanor. 
 
Chairman K. Koppelman: We can certainly give you some time to look at this and get back 
to us. 
 
Chairman K. Koppelman: Please work on that and talk to law enforcement and get back to 
the committee. 
 
Closed. 
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Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
Relating to fleeing or attempting to elude a peace officer; and to provide a penalty. 
 

Minutes:                                                   

 
Chairman K. Koppelman: Opened the meeting on HB 1296.This bill we had acted on and 
passed it out on the floor and the bill carrier for the Do Not Pass asked us to take it back 
because he learned some more information. 
 
Rep. Bob Paulson:  When I voted to send the bill out like I did my understanding was that 
basically any time someone attempted to evade the police they met that criteria of putting 
other peoples in danger. There might be times that is not true.  I wanted to share an email I 
got with the primary sponsor and he said right now prosecutors need to stack charges based 
on enhanced fleeing.  Instead 1296 creates a specific charge to be applied in cases where a 
person fleeing law enforcement and putting the lives of others in extreme danger can have 
one charge that accurately describes the alleged crime.  Current law would lead to multiple 
charges and various penalties.  Wreck less endangerment can mean any number of things 
from discharging a firearm to speeding through a cross walk when children are present. 
Enhanced fleeing would eliminate the need to apply a general charge solely for the purpose 
of charging a person with wreck less activities while evading arrest by law enforcement.  
 
Chairman K. Koppelman: There are some charges that get stacked and some are catch 
all’s. If there isn’t something else in the code that they can site, you with they use care 
required.  
 
Do Pass Motion Made by Rep. Roers Jones; Seconded by Rep. Satrom 
 
Discussion: 
 
Rep. Rick Becker:  I am going to resist the motion.  I am always a little bit concerned about 
things that I may not know the full ramifications. 
 
Chairman K. Koppelman: There are cases where they are clearly putting life in danger and 
then there are others where the police follow a vehicle so it wasn’t anything for those kinds 
of cases. 
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Rep. Paur:  I don’t see anything that changed my original opinion. 
 
Roll Call Vote:    8   Yes    5   No    1   Absent   Carrier:  Rep. Vetter 
 
Closed. 
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Title. 

Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for 
the House Judiciary Committee 

January 22, 2019 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO HOUSE BILL NO. 1296 

Page 1, line 14, after "while" insert "willfully" 

Page 1, line 16, after "driver" insert "willfully" 

Page 1, line 19, after "driver" insert "willfully" 

Renumber accordingly 
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Adopted by the Judiciary Committee 

January 23, 2019 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO HOUSE BILL NO. 1296 

Page 1, line 14, after "while" insert "willfully" 

Page 1, line 15, after the underscored semicolon insert "or" 

Page 1, line 16, after "driver" insert "willfully" 

Page 1, line 18, remove ": or" 

Page 1, remove lines 19 and 20 

Page 1, line 21, remove "to an individual under the age of twelve or to a peace officer" 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 19.0311.01002 
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REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE 
HB 1296: Judiciary Committee (Rep. K. Koppelman, Chairman) recommends 

AMENDMENTS AS FOLLOWS and when so amended, recommends DO NOT 
PASS (10 YEAS, 3 NAYS, 1 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING). HB 1296 was placed on 
the Sixth order on the calendar. 

Page 1, line 14, after "while" insert "willfully" 

Page 1, line 15, after the underscored semicolon insert "or" 

Page 1, line 16, after "driver" insert "willfully" 

Page 1, line 18, remove ";__Q[" 

Page 1, remove lines 19 and 20 

Page 1, line 21, remove "to an individual under the age of twelve or to a peace officer" 
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☐ Subcommittee 

☐ Conference Committee 

 

      Committee Clerk: Meghan Pegel / Marne Johnson 

 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bill/resolution: 

 
A BILL for an Act to amend and reenact section 39-10-71 of the North Dakota Century Code, 
relating to fleeing or attempting to elude a peace officer; and to provide a penalty. 
 
 

Minutes:                                                 5 Attachments 

 
 
Chair Larson opens the hearing on HB 1296. Senator Osland was absent. 
 
(0:35-5:55) Corey Mock, District 18 Representative, testifies in favor (see attachment 
#1) 
 
Chair Larson: I know one of the concerns the officers had was needing to charge it under 
reckless endangerment or something else in order to get the real threat level of what that 
danger was doing, so I feel this bill is appropriate.  
 
Senator Luick: Can you define motor vehicle? 
 
Representative Mock: I know it is thoroughly defined in title 39, I don’t have that section with 
me, I believe one of the representatives in law enforcement could more accurately describe 
what we constitute as a motor vehicle. I do know we have some section that will separate 
out, further amend. There was a case where someone was fleeing an officer with a 
snowmobile. We have different insurance requirements for snowmobiles than we do motor 
vehicles. 
 
Joseph Jenson, UND Law Intern, neutral party 
Jenson: Motor vehicle defined in chapter 39-01-46 states ‘every vehicle that is self-propelled, 
every vehicle that is propelled by electric power obtained from overhead trolley wires without 
operating on rails, and, for purposes of motor vehicle registration, title registration, and 
operator’s licenses, motorized bicycles. The title does not include a snowmobile as defined 
in section 39-24-01.’ 
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Senator Luick: The amount of speed has nothing to do with the definition of a motor vehicle 
in this case. 
 
Representative Mock: Correct. Currently, one of the tools that law enforcement uses if they 
are seeking an enhanced fleeing charge, is they will apply a more generic reckless 
endangerment charge. In my testimony it’s halfway through the testimony, there are sections 
of the century code. The first page says Chapter 12.1-17. You’ll see the charge for reckless 
endangerment which is a general catchall charge in our criminal code. It is a class A 
misdemeanor, it can be a class C felony if it’s in extreme indifference to the value of human 
life. That is the charge that law enforcement would usually apply to someone fleeing an officer 
if it puts a third party inherently at risk of loss of life or serious injury. It does result in the 
stacking of charges, the reason the House Judiciary committee amended this is to simplify 
the process. You don’t need to worry about stacking and proving multiple different offenses. 
The act was fleeing an officer and endangering the life of a third party. They felt that instead 
of requiring law enforcement and State’s Attorneys to work on multiple charges, that we could 
simplify it, have one unified enhanced fleeing charge, and minimize the need to have stacked 
charges in those circumstances. 
 
(10:40-13:00) Major Jim Hulm, Burleigh County Sheriff’s Department, testifies in favor 
(see attachment #2)  
 
Major Hulm: I have some statistics from 2017- 2018. My position in 2017 was Patrol 
Lieutenant, I did a review of our pursuits and fleeings and compared what we had at the end 
of 2018. Obviously we’ve had an increase over those two year, but looking back five years, 
we’ve seen the most increase. 2017-2018 our average speeds increased from 70 mph to 75 
mph. This is an average. Pursuit times have increased from 3 minutes to 5 minutes, almost 
doubling. Increased number of individuals who flee towards a city has increased 
exponentially. They seek the confines of a city to get away from us. It comes down to the last 
paragraph in my testimony. There needs to be change and these people need to be held 
accountable, it needs to be proportional and appropriate.  
 
(15:05-18:25) Dave Draovitch, Chief of Bismarck Police Department, testifies in favor 
(see attachment #3) 
 
Senator Myrdal: When your department is chasing someone, when do you decide to let 
them go because it’s too dangerous? 
 
Chief Draovitch: Almost immediately. It has to be a very serious offense before we’ll pursue 
anybody in our department. Most departments are like that.  
 
Chair Larson: If you are chasing somebody you know just murdered somebody? 
 
Chief Draovitch: Oh, we would chase them however long it took. For a traffic violation, I am 
not willing to risk my family, so I won’t risk your families either.   
 
Senator Bakke: If you are chasing someone and you decide to discontinue, do you 
apprehend them later? 
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Chief Draovitch: Our officers are getting pretty good at tracking these people down, but 
we’re not able to track everyone down. 
 
(20:55) Jeff Solemsaas, Lieutenant with the Bismarck Police Department, testifies in 
favor (see attachment #4) 
 
Short video of car chases was presented (21:45-26:00)  
Lieutenant Solemsaas: Our pursuit policy is limited in that we are only allowed to pursue 
vehicles in extreme cases.  
 
Senator Luick: Do you get repeat offenders? 
 
Lieutenant Solemsaas: There are quite a few. The problem has been in the past that the 
owner will say they loaned it or it was stolen.  
 
Chair Larson: Would you state those two officers’ names who were on patrol and were so 
worried about this behavior that they brought it to my attention, for the record?  
 
Lieutenant Solemsaas: I believe they were Officer Guggenberger, the other was Officer 
Hersch.  
Continues reading written testimony (27:10-30:05) 
 
Senator Luick: How many of these are impaired in one way or another? 
 
Lieutenant Solemsaas: I don’t have the answer to that, a lot of times we’re not allowed to 
engage in the pursuit. We might not catch up to the driver until a couple of days later. We 
can make an assumption, by the manner they are driving, but I can’t prove it. 
 
Senator Bakke: If you do catch them later, can you charge them, based on the videos? 
 
Lieutenant Solemsaas: Yes, we can. Videos are actually great evidence for prosecution.  
 
Vice Chairman Dwyer: Currently it’s a class C felony if you are fleeing while you’re 
committing a felony, now we’re adding operating a vehicle in a manner constituting inherent 
risk of death or serious bodily injury, but we’re adding the adjective willfully at the beginning. 
Wouldn’t all of these situations create that same risk, why would we want to use the word 
willfully, because that would imply that you are intending to cause harm, where somebody is 
fleeing, they are probably not intending to cause harm. They may do it, but why would we 
want to use that?  
 
Lieutenant Solemsaas: The ‘willfully’ was added in after the bill was introduced. I don’t know 
the argument behind that. Some people had the perception that maybe some drivers might 
be just really scared of the police and they might try to flee, and they’re not willfully engaging 
in that. I think that a lot of our videos do show that it’s an act that they’re taking upon 
themselves, it’s not a spur of the moment decision, they are making a judgement call to flee 
from the officers. 
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Chair Larson: It wouldn’t be difficult standard in court to show that they are clearly trying to 
elude the police, so that would be willful. Is that correct? 
 
Lieutenant Solemsaas: I believe that would be the case. The video evidence would go a 
substantial way to proving that. 
 
Senator Luick: What’s your thought about if there’s a speed requirement involved with this? 
If you have an individual that is inebriated on his lawnmower and or tractor and doesn’t halt 
and they’re heading away from you at 6 miles an hour. How does that fit in with this bill? 
 
Lieutenant Solemsaas: I can’t think of an instance where a garden tractor would cause 
some extreme damage, but I can think of an example where a tractor possibly could. It’s a 
very heavy vehicle, it has a lot torque, a lot of power. You’ve probably seen videos 
nationwide; someone steals an armored personnel carrier. Not a high speed vehicle, but it 
can do some significant damage and cause a loss of life. That’s the key, the manner in which 
the vehicle is being operated, not necessarily the speed. 
 
Senator Luick: In that case, if we pass this bill, would the judges still have discretion as far 
as how they perceive the danger in that pursuit? 
 
Lieutenant Solemsaas: I make it a habit to not guess what judges would do.  
 
Senator Bakke: How effective are those speed bumps and the pointy things that you put 
down? Do those work, or is it hard to get in front of them to put those down? 
 
Lieutenant Solemsaas: We do have spike strips, the problem is in town we don’t know 
where that vehicle will go, we don’t have the time or ability to be set up and do it safely. If 
you’ve ever seen video of officers trying to deploy spike strips, it’s a dangerous situation.  
 
Senator Bakke: Do the speed bumps work? 
 
Lieutenant Solemsaas: I think they do work to an extent, but there’s an issue. We don’t 
want to install speed bumps all over town. Our public works would have issue with that, 
plowing streets, and that would lead to some driver frustration.  
 
(36:45) Donnell Preskey, North Dakota Association of Counties, testifies in favor 
 
Preskey: I work very closely with the North Dakota Sheriff’s and Deputies Association; I want 
to be on record in support of this bill. 
 
Representative Mock: In response to Senator Luick’s question regarding judicial discretion; 
yes. The reason the bill was drafted the way it was, without getting into any thresholds that 
would need to be met, the enhanced charge was if it places a third party at risk of death or 
serious injury, it was left up to interpretation, not just law enforcement but also with the judicial 
branch. There was an example in the past few months of an individual in Grand Forks, an 
individual tried to flee. They were at a full stop and law enforcement was trying to detain one 
of the passengers, the driver sped off, crashed into the grand Forks police car, and tried to 
get away. I don’t believe that vehicle ever hit a high rate of speed, but while they were leaving, 
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was dragging a law enforcement officer. We wanted to make sure we didn’t put anything in 
there that said it had to exceed a certain amount of speed, knowing there are so many 
variables that law enforcement and the court system would need to consider when applying 
the charges. 
 
Vice Chairman Dwyer: Could you elaborate on the House’s decision to add the word 
‘willfully’? 
 
Representative Mock: The committee wanted the assurance that there is no case where 
someone could be charged with the enhanced fleeing, and the defense was they just didn’t 
know, or they were scared because they were fearful for their life. They wanted the assurance 
that there had to be willful intent of eluding an officer and putting someone’s life at risk. The 
thresholds, the willful, intentional ect. all of those terminology words are often used in that 
committee and they like to insert the level of intent that is necessary. This is one of those 
examples where they wanted to insert ‘willful’ to put some of the committee members’ minds 
at ease. 
 
Vice Chairman Dwyer: It seems like it would be a good defense. It wasn’t willful.  
 
Representative Mock: Certainly, adding that term could add to the defense. However, with 
video evidence and others, it should be fairly easy to demonstrate the intentions of the 
individual. I don’t think the willful threshold would be difficult to overcome. That’s why 
sponsors of the bill did not object to them placing that word in. I leave it to the committee to 
decide if they want to amend that. The House originally had a do not pass recommendation 
until they added this language. 
 
Senator Luick: What’s an example of not willful? 
 
Representative Mock: Some of the examples that were brought up was if there was a 
medical incident, having seizures, clearly medically incapacitated, unable to stop. In those 
cases, it would be highly unlikely if someone was charged, because it was a medical event 
and not a true evasion of law enforcement. I have a hard time coming up with examples of 
someone eluding arrest in a vehicle, putting people’s lives in danger, and it not being a willful 
act. 
 
(43:25-46:35) Major Tom Iverson, Chief of Operations for the North Dakota Highway 
Patrol, agency testimony (see attachment #5) 
 
Senator Myrdal: I know there’s practice for parents to tell their teenage daughters who are 
out driving late at night to not stop in unpopulated areas, even for an officer. Is that something 
that officers respect? I tell my daughter that. Would she be fleeing? 
 
Major Iverson: I have seen that from time to time, where they will slow down and proceed 
to an area that is populated. Our officers do need to use some discretion when dealing with 
this. At night that can be difficult to determine, because there are large amounts of pursuits 
that are low speed pursuits. It’s hard to know if it’s a young person who is scared, doesn’t 
know what is going on, but no, I would not give that advice. They do need to pull over when 
red lights are flashing behind them. 
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Senator Myrdal: That young woman or man could possibly be charged with fleeing. 
 
Major Iverson: Yes, depending on how far they go. Once the officer gets to the vehicle the 
officer can make the decision.  
 
Senator Myrdal: Is there a difference between when you stop pursuing? Does Highway 
Patrol have a different policy than in the city? You have more wide open spaces.  
 
Major Iverson: Yes. We have our own enforcement policy and within that would be our own 
pursuit policy. We do have a lot of disclaimers in there that the officers need to weigh the risk 
that is associated with it, versus capturing that person. Can we identify them and get them at 
a later time? In law enforcement as time has gone on, the risk that the public takes by us 
engaging in these pursuits is very high. The risk that that person is creating by driving 
extremely fast, we just doubled it by getting behind them and copying that speed. However, 
we do have a job to do, the public trust us to enforce that law, so they trust the law 
enforcement to drive safely and do the best that they can. If the officers have a doubt that 
they are creating a risk, we would discontinue the pursuit. 
 
Chair Larson closes the hearing on HB 1296. 
 
 
Senator Myrdal: Motions for a Do Pass. 
Senator Luick: Seconds. 
 
A Roll Call Vote Was Taken: 5 yeas, 0 nays, 1 absent. Motion carries. 
 
Senator Bakke will carry the bill. 
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Appropriations 

Good morning, Mr. Chairman and members of the committee. My name is Corey Mock, representative 
for District 18 in Grand Forks, ND, and I am here today as one of the sponsors of HB 1296. 

On the morning of Thursday, August 2nd of last year, I inadvertently found myself as one of the first 
f people on the scene of a single car crash near St. Mary's Catholic Church and Early Childhood 

Educational Center in downtown Grand Forks. The vehicle was severed in half after barreling into a 
large oak tree, spreading debris across church property and into adjacent yards. 

While the loss of the driver's life is tragic, parents who would be soon dropping off their children are 
immensely fortunate this crash did not occur two hours later. 

At 5:15 am, the driver refused to stop and engaged in a high-speed evasion of the Grand Forks police 
officer. As this 33-year old driver neared downtown, police said he "rapidly accelerated and turned off 
his headlights, in further attempts to elude the officer." 

Police terminated the pursuit because of the danger this chase posed to the public. Shortly after the 
pursuit was called off, however, dispatch was notified that the car had crashed into a tree, causing 
extreme damage and ultimately ejecting the driver from the vehicle, who died at the scene. 

Mr. Chairman and committee members, I wish I could tell you this was an anomaly in Grand Forks. I'd 
f like to tell you that news of high-speed pursuits are so rare they're treated as "breaking news." Like so 

many communities across the state, however, news of pursuits have become a regular feature. 
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HB 1296 was drafted at the request of law enforcement officers in the Grand Forks area. And I want to 

take the moment to mention that we were not the only community working on legislation for the 2019 

session. 

Sen. Diane Larson and Rep. Pat Heinert -- both of Bismarck -- had drafted similar legislation that 

created a felony charge for fleeing law enforcement in a motor vehicle. Consensus among bill 

sponsors, law enforcement, and states attorneys suggested the language before you delivered an 

appropriately tiered charge based on the severity of a pursuit. 

We have several members representing law enforcement and judicial associations here to testify to the 

need of an aggravated fleeing charge in North Dakota. In a moment I hope you'll afford them the 

opportunity to share their experiences and rationale behind HB 1296. 

Before I turn it over to questions and subsequent testimony, however, I would like to share some 

additional information that we used in drafting this bill. 

Attached to this testimony you'll find a list of fleeing charges from 14 other states along with a summary 

of North Dakota's current law. This is not a comprehensive list of all states with enhanced or tiered 

charges, but a sample compiled by NCSL and used by sponsors as we explored options for an 

aggravated fleeing statute. 

The next pages include a copy of current assault charges from North Dakota's criminal code (Title 12.1-

17) and our reckless driving charges (Title 39-08-03). I'll reference the criminal code during the 

explanation of the bill and you may be interested in reviewing the reckless driving statute as you 

consider current charges law enforcement has available to them in these cases. Finally, I have the 

classification of offenses and a sample of news stories that provide recent fleeing examples. 

Currently, any driver fleeing or eluding arrest may only be charged with a class A misdemeanor, unless 

it's a subsequent offense within three years. 

Section 1 amends current penalties for fleeing or attempting to elude a peach officer, ultimately creating 

felony level charges if risk of death or serious bodily injury occur as a result of the drivers attempts to 

flee law enforcement. 
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Subsections are created beginning on line 11. Overstruck language on lines 12 and 13 become the 
new subsection Bon lines 14 and 15. 

Substantive changes begin on line 16 with subsection C. Similar to our aggravated assault charges, a 
driver operating a vehicle in a manner constituting an inherent risk of death or serious bodily injury to a 
third person may be charged with a class C felony. 

Subsection D says the driver may be charged with a class B felony if the third person is a child under 
the age of twelve or a peace officer. 

The remainder of the section is unchanged from current law. 

Thank you again, Mr. Chairman and members of the committee. I hope this adequately explains the bill 
before you and prepares you for additional testimony that will begin momentarily. At this time I'd be 
happy to entertain any questions the committee may have. 



North Dakota 39-10-71 Class A misdemeanor • Class C felony for a subsequent offense within 
for a first offense. three years. 

• Class C felony if violating this section while 
fleeing after or in the commission of a felony. 



North Carolina 20-141.5. (Speeding to elude arrest) Prohibits an 
individual from operating a motor vehicle on a 
street, highway, or public vehicular area while 
fleeing or attempting to elude a law 
enforcement officer who is in the lawful 
performance of his duties. 

The .9ffense results in· serious 
,..,i111pairme�t of a �ody function cif an : 
-individual· • ·" · · · 

-= · 
• • . .- . ,_ I 

,/ ... � 

· o ·.Ttie individual has'l or more prior 
... _: .. ·convictions fo'r first-: second-, or third-

degree fleeing and eli.uf,il}g, attempted 
first-,.second-, or third�egree fle.eing 

._ and-eluding, or fleeing and eludin_g , . 
under a current or former law ofthfs . 'I 
state prohibiting sybsta_ntially similar: 
co_nduct; or 
.Tile individual has any co·mtlination.of 2-
or inore Rrior convictions for. fourth­
degree fleeing and eluding, attempted 
fourth-degree fleeing and eludin� or· 
fleeing and eluding under a current or 
former law of this state prohibiting . . . 
su6stantially similar conduct. 

First degr�e fleeing and eluding,·a felony 
. punishable by imprisonment for not more than 
15 years er a fine 'of not more than $15,000.00, 
or both, if the offense results in the death of 
anot'1er individual. 

Class 1 misdemeanor • Class H felony if two or more of the following 
aggravating factors are present at the time the 
violation occurs: 

o Speeding in excess of 15 miles per hour 
over the legal speed limit. 

o Gross impairment of the person's 
faculties while driving due to: 

• Consumption of an impairing 
substance; or 

• 



• A blood alcohol concentration of 
0.14 or more within a relevant 
time after the driving. 

o Reckless driving. 
o Negligent driving leading to an accident 

causing: 
• Property damage in excess of 

one thousand dollars {$1,000); 
or 

• Personal injury. 
o Driving when the person's drivers 

license is revoked. 
o Driving in excess of the posted speed 

limit, during the days and hours when 
the posted limit is in effect, on school 
property or in an area designated as a 
school zone. 

o Passing a stopped school bus. 
o Driving with a child under 12 years of 

age in the vehicle. 
o Is the proximate cause of the death of 



South Dakota 32-33-18 

Minnesota 609.487 

(Failure to stop at the signal of law Class 2 misdemeanor • Class 1 misdemeanor if after failing or refusing 
to bring a vehicle to a stop the driver flees from 
the law enforcement officer or attempts to 
elude the pursuit of the law enforcement officer. 

enforcement officer) Any driver of a vehicle 
who intentionally fails or refuses to bring a 
vehicle to a stop, when given visual or audible 
signal to bring the vehicle to a stop, is guilty of 
failure to stop at the signal of a law 
enforcement officer. 

�. : A po.lice officer who is 'in uniform and· 
. •  promjnently di�playing t�e p� ice officer's ' · 

badge of office or operating a vehicle 
.... appr�priafely ma"'rked'showing. it to be an 

official police vehicle gives a visual or 
' audible s_ignal to bring the vehicle t� � stop,_ 
-including any signal ·by hand, vaice;- "' .  
emergency light or siren. " , 

(Fleeing peace officer) Whoever by means of a 
motor vehicle flees or attempts to flee a peace 
officer who is acting in the lawful discharge of 

• Class 6 felony if the driver during the flight or 
pursuit, the driver operates the vehicle in a 
manner that constitutes an inherent risk of 
death or serious bodily injury to any third 

• Imprisonment for not more than 40 years or to 
payment of a fine of not more than $80,000, or 

imprisonment for not both if the course of fleeing results in death. 

1 



Alabama BA-10-52 

an official duty, and the perpetrator knows or 
should reasonably know the same to be a 
peace officer. 

more than three years 
and one day 
or to payment of a 
fine of not more than 
$5,000, or both. 

(Fleeing or attempting to elude law Class A misdemeanor 
enforcement officer) 
• It is unlawful for a person to intentionally 

flee by any means from anyone the person 
knows to be a law enforcement officer if 
the person knows the officer is attempting 
to arrest the person. 

• It is unlawful for a person while operating a 
motor vehicle on a street, road, alley, or 
highway in this state, to intentionally flee 
or attempt to elude a law enforcement 
officer after having received a signal from 
the officer to bring the vehicle to a stop. 

• Imprisonment for not more than seven years or 
to payment of a fine of not more than $14,000, 
or both if the course of fleeing results in great 
bodily harm. 

• Imprisonment for not more than five years or to 
payment of a fine of not more than $10,000, or 
both if the course of fleeing results in substantia l  
bodily harm. 

• Misdemeanor for whoever, for the purpose of 

Class C felony if the flight or attempt to elude causes 
an actual death or physical injury to innocent 
bystanders or third parties. 



West Virginia 61-5-17 

enforcement officer, probation officer or 
parole officer acting in his or her official 
capacity who is attempting to make a 
lawful arrest of the person, and who knows 
or reasonably believes that the officer is 
attempting to arrest him or her. 

2. A person may intentionally flee or attempt 
to flee in a vehicle from a law-enforcement 
officer, probation officer or parole officer 
acting in his or her official capacity after the 

9 

1.  

2. 

Misdemeanor 
(fined not less 
than $50 nor 
more than $500 
or confined in jail 
not more than 
one year, or both). 
Misdemeanor 
(fined not less 
than $500 nor 
more than $1,000 
and shall be 
confined in a 
regional jail not 

• 

• 

• 

Felony (fined not less than $1,000 nor more than 
$2,000 and shall be imprisoned in a state 
correctional facility not less than one nor more 
than five years) if the person operates the 
vehicle in a manner showing a reckless 
indifference to the safety of others. 
Misdemeanor (fined not less than $1,000 nor 
more than $3,000 and shall be confined in jail 
for not less than six months nor more than one 
year) if the person causes damage to the real or 
personal property of a person du ring or resulting 
from his or her flight. 
Felony (imprisoned in a state correctional facility 
not less than three nor more than ten years) if 



Pennsylvania 3733 

officer has given a clear visual or audible 
signal directing the person to stop 

(Fleeing or attempting to elude police officer) 
Any driver of a motor vehicle who willfully fails 
or refuses to bring his vehicle to a stop, or who 
otherwise flees or attempts to elude a pursuing 
police officer, when given a visual and audible 
signal to bring the vehicle 
to a stop. 

/() 

more than one 
year). 

• 

• 

Misdemeanor of the • 
second degree. Any 
driver upon conviction 
shall pay an additional 
fine of $500. 

0 

controlled substance; 
o Crosses a State line; or 



j'rkansas 

Georgia 40-6-395 

(Fleeing) If a person knows that �is or her 
immediate arrest or deteritio.n is being 
attempted by a duly authorized law 
enforcement officer, it is the lawful duty of the 

· person to refrain from fleeing, either on.foot or 
by means of any, vehicle or �onveyance. 

(Fleeing or attempting to elude a police officer) 
It is unlawful for any driver of a vehicle willfully 
to fail or refuse to bring his or her vehicle to a 
stop or otherwise to flee or attempt to elude a 
pursuing police vehicle or police officer when 
given a visual or an audible signal to bring 
the vehicle to a stop. 

High and aggravated 
misdemeanor and 
upon conviction shall 
be fined not less than 
$500.00 nor more 
than $5,000.00. 

I I  
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o endangers a law enforcement officer or 
member of the general public due to the 
driver engaging in a high-speed chase . 

. �iass B misdemeanor if the aefendant has been 
previously convicted. of fleeing on foot anytime 

� within ttie past one-year  period. 
• · Class A misderneanor if property damage occurs 

as a direct result of the fleeing on foot. 
Cl�ss D felony if serious physica l injury occurs to 
any person as a direct result of the fleeing on 
foot. 
Class A misdemeanor if fleeing by means of any 
vehicl� or conveyance. 
Class D felony when fleeing by means of any 
vehicle or conveyance and under circumstances 
manifesting extreme indifference to the value of 
human life, a p�rson purposely operates the 
vehicle or conveyance in such a manner that 
creates a substantiar danger of death or serious 
physical injury to another person. 
Class C felony if serious physical injury to any 
person occurs as a direct result of fleeing by 
means of any vehicle or conveyance. 

• Fined not less than $1,000.00 nor more than 
$5,000.00 for a second conviction within a ten­
year period of time. 

• Fined not less than $2,500.00 nor more than 
$5,000.00 for third or subsequent conviction 
within a ten-year period of time. 

• Felony (punishable by a fine of $5,000.00 or 
imprisonment for not less than one year nor 
more than five years or both) if the driver: 



0 Operates his or her vehicle in excess of 
20 miles an hour above the posted 
speed limit; 

0 Strikes or collides with another vehicle 
or a pedestrian; 

0 Flees in traffic conditions which place 
the general public at risk of receiving 
serious injuries; 

0 Drives under the influence of alcohol, 
d rugs, or toxic vapor; or 

0 Leaves the state. 

I� 



CHAPTER 1 2. 1 -1 7  
ASSAULTS - THREATS - COERCION - HARASSMENT 

1 2 . 1 -1 7-01 . Simple assault. 
1 .  A person is gui lty of an offense if that person: 

a .  Wil lfu l ly causes bodily inju ry to another human being ; or 

flBf?;ff/:; 
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b .  Negl igently causes bodi ly injury to another human being by  means of  a firearm,  
destructive device, or other weapon, the use of which against a human being is 
l ikely to cause death or serious bodily injury. 

2 .  The offense is :  
a.  A class C felony when the victim is a peace officer or correctional institution 

employee acting in an official capacity, wh ich the actor knows to be a fact; an 
employee of the state hospital acting in the course and scope of employment, 
wh ich the actor knows to be a fact, and the actor is an individual committed to or 
detained at the state hospital pursuant to chapter 25-03.3; a person engaged in a 
judicial proceeding ; or a member of a municipal or volunteer fire department or 
emergency medical services personnel unit or emergency department worker in 
the performance of the member's duties. 

b. A class B m isdemeanor for the first offense when the victim is an actor's fami ly or 
household member as defined in subsection 4 of section 1 4-07. 1 -01  and a 
class A misdemeanor for a second or subsequent offense when the victim is an 
actor's fami ly or household member as defined in subsection 4 of section 
1 4-07 . 1 -0 1  and the actor has a prior conviction for simple assault under this 
section or an assault offense under section 1 2 . 1 - 1 7-01 . 1  or 1 2 . 1 - 1 7-02 involving 
the commission of domestic violence as defined in subsection 2 of section 
1 4-07 . 1 -0 1 . For purposes of this subdivision , a prior conviction includes a 
conviction of any assault offense in wh ich a finding of domestic violence was 
made under a law' or ordinance of another state wh ich is equivalent to this 
subdivision . 

c. A class B misdemeanor except as provided in subdivision a or b. 

1 2 . 1 -1 7-01 .1 . Assault. 
A person is gu i lty of a class A misdemeanor, except if the victim is under the age of twelve 

years in wh ich case the offense is a class C felony, if that person: 
1 .  Wil lfu l ly causes substantial bodi ly injury to another human being ; or 
2 .  Negl igently causes substantial bodi ly inju ry to another human being by means of a 

firearm , destructive device, or other weapon, the use of which against a human being 
is likely to cause death or serious bodi ly injury. 

1 2 . 1 -1 7-02 . Aggravated assault. 
1 .  Except as provided in subsection 2 ,  a person is gui lty of a class C felony if that person : 

a .  Wil lful ly causes serious bod i ly injury to another human being ; 
b .  Knowingly causes bodi ly injury or substantial bodi ly injury to another human 

being with a dangerous weapon or other weapon, the possession of which under 
the ci rcumstances indicates an intent or readiness to infl ict serious bodily injury; 

c .  Causes bodi ly injury or substantial bodi ly injury to another human being while 
attempting to infl ict serious bodi ly injury on any human being ; or 

d. F ires a firearm or hurls a destructive device at another human being . 
2 .  The person is gu i lty of  a class B felony i f  the person violates subsection 1 and the 

victim :  
a. Is under twelve years of age; 
b .  Is a peace officer or correctional institution employee acting in an official capacity, 

which the actor knows to be a fact; or 
c. Suffers permanent loss or impairment of the function of a bodi ly member or 

organ. 
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1 2. 1 -1 7-03. Reckless endangerment. 1/J..l / l f  . 
A person is guilty of an offense if he creates a substantial risk of serious bodily injury or f>'l�Jt.j 

death to another. The offense is  a class C felony i f  the circumstances manifest his extreme 
indifference to the value of human life . Otherwise it is a class A misdemeanor. There is risk 
within the meaning of this section if the potential for harm exists, whether or not a particular 
person's safety is actually jeopardized. 

1 2. 1 -1 7-04. Terrorizing . 
A person is guilty of a class C felony if, with intent to place another human being in fear for 

that human being's or another's safety or to cause evacuation of a building, place of assembly, 
or facility of public transportation , or otherwise to cause serious disruption or public 
inconvenience, or in reckless disregard of the risk of causing such terror, disruption, or 
inconvenience, the person : 

1. Threatens to commit any crime of violence or act dangerous to human life ; or 
2. Falsely informs another that a situation dangerous to human life or commission of a 

crime of violence is imminent knowing that the information is false .  

1 2. 1 -1 7-05. Menacing. 
A person is guilty of a class A misdemeanor if he knowingly places or attempts to place 

another human being in fear by menacing him with imminent serious bodily injury. 

1 2.1 -1 7-06. Criminal coercion. 
1. A person is guilty of a class A misdemeanor if, with intent to compel another to engage 

in or refrain from conduct, he threatens to: 
a. Commit any crime; 
b. Accuse anyone of a crime; 
c .  Expose a secret or publicize an asserted fact, whether true or false , tending to 

subject any person , living or deceased ,  to hatred , contempt, or ridicule , or to 
impair another's credit or business repute; or 

d .  Take o r  withhold official action as  a public servant o r  cause a public servant to 
take or withhold official action . 

2 .  I t  i s  an affirmative defense to a prosecution under this section that the actor believed ,  
whether or  not mistakenly: 
a. That the primary purpose of the threat was to cause the other to conduct himself 

in his own best interest; or 
b. That a purpose of the threat was to cause the other to desist from misbehavior, 

engage in behavior from which he could not lawfully abstain , make good a wrong 
done by h im,  or refrain from taking any action or responsibility for which he was 
disqualified . 

1 2. 1 -1 7-07. Harassment. 
1. A person is guilty of an offense if, with intent to frighten or harass another, the person : 

a. Communicates in writing or by electronic communication a threat to inflict injury 
on any person , to any person's reputation,  or to any property; 

b. Makes a telephone call anonymously or in offensively coarse language; 
c .  Makes repeated telephone calls or other electronic communication , whether or 

not a conversation ensues, with no purpose of legitimate communication ;  or 
d .  Communicates a falsehood in writing o r  by electronic communication and causes 

mental anguish .  
2 .  The offense is a class A misdemeanor if it is under subdivision a of subsection 1 or 

subsection 4. Otherwise it is a class B misdemeanor. 
3. Any offense defined herein and committed by use of electronic communication may be 

deemed to have been committed at either the place at which the electronic 
communication was made or at the place where the electronic communication was 
received .  



�9-08-01 .4. Driving while under the Influence of alcohol while being accompanied by /16IJ-'tl, 
a mmor - Penalty. ;J 1 It is a class A misdemeanor for an individual who is at least twenty-one years of age to f violate section 39-08-01 if the violation occurred while a minor was accompanying the individual 1/ii- 1 / 19 ,,,., 
in a motor vehicle. If an individual has a previous conviction for a violation of section 39-08-01 .4, ()IJ./L /Jr, 
a violation of this section is a class C felony. An individual convicted under this section must be 
sentenced in accordance with subsection 5 of section 39-08-0 1 . 

39-08-01 .5. Partial suspension of sentence for drug court completion. 
1 .  Notwithstanding section 39-08-01 , all but ten days of the minimum mandatory 

sentence required for a defendant charged with a third or subsequent violation of 
section 39-08-01 may be suspended on the condition the defendant successfu lly 
completes a drug court program approved by the supreme court. 

2 .  For purposes of this section, unless the context otherwise requires, "drug court 
program" means a district court-supervised treatment program approved by the 
supreme court which combines judicial supervision with alcohol and drug testing and 
chemical addiction treatment in a l icensed treatment program. The supreme court may 
adopt rules,  including rules of procedure, for drug courts and the drug court program. 

39-08-02. Person conveying passengers not to engage drivers addicted to intoxicants 
- Penalty. 

No person owning or having the direction or control of any vehicle for the conveyance of 
passengers in this state may employ or continue in the person's employment as a driver of such 
vehicle any person who is known to the actor to be addicted to a controlled substance or given 
to the excessive use of controlled substances or intoxicating liquors. Any person violating the 
provisions of this section is gui lty of an infraction and is liable for all damages sustained by 
reason of such violation. 

39-08-03. Reckless driving - Aggravated reckless driving - Penalty. 
Any person is guilty of reckless driving if the person drives a vehicle: 
1 .  Recklessly in disregard of the rights or safety of others; or 
2 .  Without due caution and circumspection and at a speed or in a manner so as to 

endanger or be l ikely to endanger any person or the property of another. 
Except as otherwise herein provided, any person violating the provisions of this section is gui lty 
of a class B misdemeanor. Any person who, by reason of reckless driving as herein defined, 
causes and inflicts injury upon the person of another, is gui lty of aggravated reckless driving, 
and is gui lty of a class A misdemeanor. 

39-08-03.1 . Exhibition driving and drag racing - Definitions - Penalty. 
1 .  No person may engage in exhibition driving of any vehicle on a highway, street, alley, 

sidewalk, or any public or private parking lot or area, nor may any person engage in a 
race, a speed competition, drag race or acceleration contest, test of physical 
endurance, or exhibition of speed or acceleration. Any person who violates this section 
by engaging in an act defined by subdivision b of subsection 2 must be assessed a fee 
of fifty dollars. Any person who violates this section by engaging in an act defined by 
subdivision a or c of subsection 2 must be assessed a fee of one hundred dollars. 

2 .  As used in  this section: 
a. "Drag race" means the operation of two or more vehicles from a point side by 

side by accelerating rapidly in a competitive attempt to cause one vehicle to 
outdistance the other; or the operation of one or more vehicles over a common 
selected course from the same point to the same point for the purpose of 
comparing the relative speed or powers of acceleration of such vehicle or 
vehicles within a certain distance or time limit. 

b .  "Exhibition driving" means driving a vehicle in  a manner which disturbs the peace 
by creating or causing unnecessary engine noise, tire squeal, skid , or slide upon 



Penalties by Classification of Offense 

1 2. 1 -32-01 . Classification of offenses - Penalties. Offenses are d ivided into 
seven classes, which are denominated and subject to maximum penalties, as 
follows: 

1 .  Class AA felony - maximum - life imprisonment without parole 
The court must designate whether the l ife imprisonment sentence 
imposed is with or without an opportunity for parole. 

2. Class A felony - maximum - 20 years ,  a fine of $20 ,000, or both 

3.  Class B felony - maximum - 10 years,  a fine of $20,000, or both 

4 .  Class C felony - maximum - 5 years, a fine of $ 1 0 ,000,  or both 

5. Class A misdemeanor - maximum - 360 days; a fine of $3 ,000, or 

both 

6 .  Class B misdemeanor - maximum - 30 days ,  a fine of $1 , 500 or  both 

7. Infraction - $1 ,000 fine 

January 201 9 



Driver charged in Grand Forks high-speed chase 
By Forum staff reports on Nov 1 8, 201 8  at 5:50 p.m. 
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ND FORKS - On Saturday, Nov. 17, officers tried to pull over a vehicle about 11 :55 p.m. after it failed to stop 

red light at the intersection of Campbell Drive and South Washington Street. 

The vehicle proceeded to go through multiple stop lights and stop signs, according to the release. 

During the chase, the vehicle struck the porch of a residence and hit a stopped patrol vehicle in the area. The 

driver of the vehicle parked in an alley on South 10th Street, where he fled on foot. 

Officers were able to track the suspect, identified as Cory Hanson, through shoeprints in the snow. 

Hanson was transported to the Grand Forks County Correctional Center and was charged with driving under the 

influence, reckless endangerment, reckless driving, preventing arrest, leaving the scene of an accident on two 

occasions and fleeing in a motor vehicle. 

No one was injured in the incident and the investigation is ongoing. Anyone with information is asked to contact 

Grand Forks police. 

https://www.grandforksherald.com/news/crime-and-courts/4531 1 39-driver-charged-grand-forks-hlgh-speed-chase 



Hf3 J;y;,� . 
ND Hiahway Patrol arrests Nebraska man after 

2 /;J-/ 

. . .  � . .  �t-'""J chase l/d-1/J" 
{JqjL/tl 

By Robin Huebner on Apr 22, 201 8  at 6:26 p,m. 

Daniel Rosseter, 32, of Omaha, Neb. 

FARGO-The North Dakota Highway Patrol was involved in its second high speed chase in this area in a matter of hours .  

The Patrol sa id i t  received a complaint of a reckless driver just after 1 1  :30 p .m.  on  Saturday, Apri l 2 1 . 

A trooper located the vehicle, travel ing over 1 1 0  mph on eastbound Interstate 94 near Casselton ,  N .D .  

The trooper tried to  stop the  2006 Honda CR-V, but the driver kept going . 

Troopers used a spike strip tire deflation device to disable the veh icle near the Mapleton exit after a 20 mi le pursu it. 

Daniel Rosseter, 32, of Omaha, Neb. was taken into custody for fleeing a police officer and reckless driving .  

There were no injuries. 

Earlier in the day Saturday, the Patrol arrested a driver following a 25-mile-long chase that reached a top speed of 1 06 
mph. 

That pursu it, which began around 1 :50 p.m. ,  on northbound Highway 1 8, south of Casselton ,  ended at Sanford Medica l  
Center in Fargo. 

• 
Joshua Wolters , 2 1 , of Enderlin ,  N .D . ,  was arrested on charges of DU I ,  driving under suspension ,  fleeing a pol ice officer 
and reckless d riving.  

https://www.westfargopioneer.com/news/4435335-nd-highway-patrol-arrests-nebraska-man-after-high-speed-chase 



Minot Daily News 
BREAKING NEWS Major winter storm wreaks havoc on travel 

Man arrested Jollowing high-speed 

pursuit on US Highway 83 in McLean 

County 

WASHBURN - A  29-year-old West Fargo man was arrested and is being held in the McLean 

County Detention Center following a pursuit by county officers when the man was driving the 

wrong way on the one-way roadway at speeds near 100 mph Tuesday night. 

According to a news release from the McLean County Sheriffs Department, at about 10 :22 

p.m. Tuesday, the McLean County Law Enforcement Center received several 911 calls from the 

public concerning a reckless driver traveling at a high rate of speed going south on the 

northbound roadway of U.S. Highway 83, near Coleharbor. 

The vehicle, a 1997 Mercury Cougar passenger vehicle, was encountered by units of the 

McLean County Sheriffs Department near the Riverdale turn-off where the driver refused to 

stop. The vehicle continued traveling the wrong way on the one-way roadway at speeds near 

100 mph. Additional responding units attempted to stop and warn approaching traffic until 

tire spike-strips could be deployed in the Falkirk area. 

Following the successful spike-strip deployment, the vehicle continued in the same manner 

until the driver lost control in Washburn proper. The car entered the ditch, struck a delineator 

post and adjacent fence. The vehicle became disabled and the driver, Justin Gladue of West 

Fargo, was taken into custody following a Taser deployment. 

Gladue is being held in the McLean County Detention Center on several driving, conduct and 

drug- related offenses as well as for outstanding warrants for his arrest. 

A female passenger in the vehicle, Ravan Ware, 23, address unknown, was detained and taken 

to a Bismarck hospital for examination and later served outstanding warrants for her arrest. 

The North Dakota Highway Patrol and Washburn Ambulance Service assisted at the scene. 

http://www.mlnotdailynews.com/news/local-news/201 8/1 1 /man-arrested-followlng-hlgh-speed-pursult-on-us-hlghway-83-ln-mclean-county/ 



https://blsmarcktribune.com/news/loaVcrime-and-courtslhlgh-speed-chase-ends-at-caslno/artlcle_a9c183e7·21cd-59ba-bb78-457a03384903.html 

High speed chase ends at casino 

JACK DURA Bismarck Tribune Dec 1, 2017 

I TRY 1 MONTH FOR 99( I 

Officers from four agencies scrambled over State Highway 1 806 Thursday 

morning in pursuit of a fleeing vehicle whose driver now faces a raft of charges. 

Matthew Ford Mize, 34, of Minot, is charged with seven offenses, including 

felony counts of reckless endangerment and fleeing or attempting to elude a 

police officer as well as misdemeanor counts of false reports to law enforcement, 

fleeing or attempting to elude a police officer, reckless driving, driving under 

suspension and possession of marijuana. 

Morton County sheriff's deputies took up the chase after 8:30 a.m. Thursday 

when Mandan Police ended their pursuit southbound on Highway 1 806. 

Court documents say Mize continued to flee from deputies, even after losing 

control on gravel and sliding into a ditch. Morton County reported he fled at 

speeds up to 80 to 90 mph. 

AdviM!aement(1 ol I): 0:21 

Officers successfully spiked Mize 's tires, but he allegedly continued to flee even 

with just rims on his front wheels. 

North Dakota Highway Patrol and the Bureau of Indian Affairs also joined the 

pursuit, which ended near Prairie Knights Casino. A vehicle search reportedly 

yielded a small amount of marijuana in a backpack. 

Mandan Police originally tried to pull Mize over for driving a suspicious vehicle 

before he allegedly fled out of city limits. 

He is held at the Burleigh-Morton County Detention Center, pending $ 10,000 

cash bond. 

Reach Jack Dura at 701-250-8225 or fack.dura@blsmarcktrlbune.com. 

. _ � I I \ r I r . ,,, .... ,n, . ., 
l.i M E M O R I E S  O F  · o,rt, ·, . '. ,' . , ,. , . . � - - r J ,,hd)ouJkl ! 

https://bismarcktribune.com/news/local/crime-and-courts/high-speed-chase-ends-at-casino/article _a9c1 83e 7-21 cd-59ba-bb 78-457 a03384903.html 
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Deputy was allegedly dragged by car before rd�� 
igh-speed chase in Grand Forks fh1L a1 

Tess Williams on Dec 18 ,  2018 at 1 :56 p.m. 

2 

A Grand Forks woman is facing charges stemming from an incident in which she allegedly dragged an officer a short 

d istance with her car before leading police on a high-speed chase. 

Amanda Marie Marzolf, 26, is facing felony charges for fleeing police, reckless endangerment and simple assault. If 
convicted, she could face up to five years in prison for each charge. 

A deputy was on his way to serve a warrant to a Haley Lanes on Dec. 1 0  and saw her get into a car with two other women , 
an affidavit said. 

When the deputy approached and told Lanes to get out of the car's backseat she leaned toward the middle of the vehicle and 
held on,  according to a court document. The deputy began to pul l Lanes from the car, but the driver, Marzolf, abruptly 
accelerated, the affidavit said . 

The deputy was dragged a short d istance and knocked to the ground, according to the affidavit. He said his left shoulder, hip, 
hand and knee hurt and h is knee was bruised. 

Deputies called off a chase because of high speeds and said Marzolf ran multiple stop signs, nearly hit several vehicles and 
entered a school zone. 

ffidavit said Marzolf had an active warrant and she has previously faced drug-related charges . 

Both Lanes and Marzolf are facing misdemeanor charges for refusal to halt. Marzolf is scheduled to enter a plea on Jan . 22. 

https://www.grandforksherald.com/news/crlme-and-courts/4545129-deputy-was-allegedly-dragged-car-high-speed-chase-grand-forks 
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Man accused of leading high-speed chase with infant in 
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By Tess Williams on Dec 26, 2018  at 1 0:59 a.m. 

iStock.com/Chalabala 

A Fort Totten, N.D . ,  man is facing a felony charge after allegedly knocking over an officer and leading pol ice on a 

high-speed chase whi le an infant was in his car. 

A criminal complaint said Dylan James Herman fled when a Devils Lake pol ice officer tried to stop him in the 

Leevers South parking lot Dec. 17. Herman allegedly sped away in a 2006 Chevy Impala and knocking over the 

officer, who was standing next to the car. 

An infant about 6 months old was in the back of the car in a baby carrier that was not secured in place, the 

complaint said. 

Herman hit speeds of over 100 mph as he drove south on North Dakota Highway 20, and police stopped the 

chase near Spirit Lake Casino because of concerns for publ ic safety and the infant, the complaint said. 

Herman's l icense was suspended during the chase. He's facing a felony reckless endangerment charge and 

misdemeanor charges for fleeing, false reports to police and driving under suspension. He cou ld spend up to five 

years in prison for the felony charge. 

Charges were fi led Friday in Ramsey County, but Herman had not been arrested as of Wednesday morning. 

https://www.grandforksherald.com/news/crime-and-courts/4548362-man-accused-leadlng-high-speed-chase-infant-his-car 
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Cha i rm a n  Kopp leman  and  mem bers of the J u d ic i a ry Comm ittee, 

Fo r the reco rd, my name is Jeff So lemsaas .  I am a L ieutenant  with the B isma rck Po l ice depa rtment and  
have been i n  l aw enfo rcement fo r 26 yea rs .  I am here to  vo ice support of House b i l l  1296 .  As  a pa rt of 
my d ut ies I h ave com p l ied and conducted an ana lys is n u m bers of peop le f lee ing in  moto r veh ic les from 
the office rs of the B isma rck Pol ice Depa rtment and  have done so fo r the l ast 6 yea rs .  

I can  exp l a i n  from fi rsthand  knowledge that the occur rence f lee ing  i n  a moto r vehic le has g rown 
exponent ia l ly in the l ast severa l yea rs .  For some b rief backgrou nd,  the B isma rck Po l ice depa rtment is 
requ i red to t rack a nd  document a l l  i nstances i n  wh ich  a d rive r f lees from an office r when a traffic stop is 
attem pted . O u r  cu rrent  po l icy is somewhat restr icted i n  that officers a re o n ly a l l owed to engage in  a 
veh ic le  p u rs u it i n  l im ited c i rcumsta nces. Because of ou r  acc red itat ion status we a l so t rack the 
c i rc umsta nces i nvo lved i n  each of those occu rrences . 

When I fi rst sta rted to comp i le  the statistics I noted that there were 20 i nsta nces i n  2014 i n  wh ich the 
d rive r of a veh ic le f led from officers. In 2018 that n u m ber  has increased to 163 i n sta nces . In just the l ast 
yea r the n u m be r  i nc reased from 2017 in which there were 115  occur rences, a 41% increase. The cha rt 
that  I 've attached be low demonstrates the increase i n  the n u m ber  of veh ic les f lee ing from ou r  office rs . 

N u m be r  of F l ee i ng/ Atte m pts to E l ud e  
1 8 0  

1 60 

1 4 0  

1 2 0  
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I n  p repa rat ion fo r th i s  hea ring I a lso gathe r a sma l l  po rt ion of v ideo from the depa rtments i n  ca r camera 
system .  The v ideos that  you see today a re on ly a sma l l  po rt ion of what the officers a re see ing  on  an eve r 
i ncreas i ng  occu rrence.  The videos a l so do not i nd icate the ha rmfu l and  da ngerous  effect that the d rive rs 
of f lee i ng  veh ic les p l ace on  office rs and  unsuspect ing mem ber of the com m u n ity. Too many t imes the 
d rive r of the f lee i ng  veh ic le  p l aces. 

S i nce the t ime that  I have been com p i l i ng the d ata I noted that there have been 4 i nc idents in wh ich  an 
office r  of c iv i l i a n  have been i nj u red by the d r ive r of the f lee ing  veh ic le .  I a l so found  that there have been 

f1 I 
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20 i n sta n ces i n  wh i ch  the driver of the fleei ng veh ic le has  da maged either c ity or privately owned 
property as resu l t  of their actions .  These are a l l  from co l l i s ions that the flee i ng driver has  been i nvo lved 
i n .  U nfortu nately we have not tracked the n umber of co l l i s ions that occur beca use of the driv ing of the 
flee i ng  o perator but I know of severa l occas ions in wh ich  a nother driver not i nvo lved in the i ncident 
have tr ied to ta ke an evas ive action beca use of the flee ing drivers man ner of operat ion a nd have been 
i nvolved in co l l i s ions .  

The driver of the flee i ng  veh ic le is  not on ly flee ing from a traffic c itat ion .  I n  2018 there were 21 ( 13% ) 
i n sta nces i n  wh i ch  the driver fled i n  a motor veh ic le beca use of a crimi na l  v io lat ion .  O bv ious ly the 
largest n u mbers of dr ivers are flee ing beca use of a traffic v io lat ion but there i s  often the u n a nswered 
q uest ion of who the driver is a nd why are they flee ing .  Beca use of our po l i cy we wi l l  l i ke ly never know 
the a n swer to that  q uestion . 

The drivers of flee i ng  veh ic le are clearly p lac ing the l ives of pub l i c  a nd law enforcement at r i sk beca use 
of the ma n ner i n  wh i ch  they are driving to flee from officers. There i s  the bel ieve that the conseq uences 
of flee i ng  in a motor veh icle are not suffic ient to deter a driver from flee i ng, "even if I 'm ca ught noth ing 
w i l l  h a ppen  to me", i s  the common fee l i ng .  

I urge you to s upport House b i l l  1296 a nd hold the drivers of flee ing respons ib le  for their reck less a nd 
da ngerous  behavior . 

17
:L 
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Good morn i ng Cha i rman  Kopp leman  a n d  comm ittee members 

- I ' m Steven Roh rer, a nd I a m  the Sheriff i n  Benson Cou nty. 

I a m  a mem ber  of the N�rth  Da kota Sheriffs a nd Deputies 

Associat ion  wh ich  su pports House B i l l  1296 .  Th i s  i s n't j ust a 

p rob l em i n  the  u rba n a reas .  

F l ee i ng i n c i dents a re on the r ise i n  my ru ra l  pa rt of the state as  

we l l .  Ben son County has  a popu l at ion of  7,000 peop le .  S i nce 

N ovem be r  14th 2018, we have h ad  10  i n c i dents that have 

i nvolved a n  i n d iv id u a l  fl ee i ng  law enforcement at h igh speeds .  

( S umma r ize i n c idents or  ta l k  a bout one  i n c ident a s  a n  examp le )  

I n  my 25 yea rs i n  l aw enforcement I ca n with a l l  ce rta i nty te l l  

you t h e  n u m ber  of fl ee i ng i n c idents ha s  i ncreased . 

These i n c i dents put the pub l ic  i n  da nge r a nd the offi ce r's  safety 

at  r isk a s  we l l .  A greate r pena lty may serve as a deterrent .  

Does a nyone  have a ny questions? 

When you begi n to add ress the com m ittee or  a nswer quest ions - add ress the 
cha i rma n fi rst . 
When a legis l ator asks a question - add ress the cha i rma n fi rst fo l lowed by the 
representative or senator who asked the q uestion  . 



Lake Region 
Law Enforcement Center 

alnut Street West 
ake, ND 58301 

Print Date : 0111812019 
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Cal ls For Service ,;:,f,r 
Deta i l  Pa e pa e eA 

Event # 
181 1 140067 

Date : 1 1/14/2018 Day : Wednesday Time : 21 :05:23 Dispatcher ID  =cMV Agency : BCSO Source: p 
Beat : Sector : District : 03 
Fire # :  Med # :  

Address : HWY 281/ HWY 57 
Location : HWY 281/ HWY 57 

City : FT TOTTEN 

I ncident # 

other Inc. #1 

County : BENSON 

Other I nc. #2 

State: ND 
REPORTING PARTY INFORMATION 

Name : FT TOTTEN, POLICE I I 
Location : 

Phone : 701 766-4231 

Un it : Ethan Rode 
Officer I D  : ERODE Ethan Rode 

Unit : 

Officer ID : 

Dispatch Time : 1 1/14/2018 21:05:57 Cf_', 5 f'�spatch Time : 

Enroute Time : 1 1/14/2018 21:11:04 Enroute Time : 

Arrive Time : Arrive Time 

Description 

Requests Contact : N 

Total Consumed 
Minutes of al l  
associated Units : 

1 

Dispatch ID : CMV ; 

FT TOTTEN PD REQUESTING ASSISTANCE AND SPIKE STRIPS . BIA CURRENTLY IN A PURSUIT OF A 

2 0 0 6  PONTIAC GRAND PRIX ND/LIC 996CEV . VEHICLE JUST TURNED EAST ONTO HWY 5 7  AT 

ABOVE INTERSECTION AND I S  EASTBOUND AT APPROX 8 0  MILES PER HOUR . 

PURSUIT ENDED NEAR FT TOTTEN , ASSISTANCE NO LONGER NEEDED . 

Disposition : TKO 
Comments 

• 

Printed By/On: JKF / 01/1 8/2019  1 5:29:24 

Taken Care Of (Closed) 

CrimeStar® Law Enforcement Records Management System 

Licensed to: LAKE REGION LAW ENFORCEMENT CENTER 

EMD Code: 

1 1111111 1 1 111 111111 Ill lllll lllll 11111 IHI 11111 11111 1 111 11111 1 11111 1111 1 1111 1 1111 1111 



Lake Region 
Law Enforcement Center 

alnut Street West 
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Cal l� For ServicetJ,'I Deta i l  Pa e �::J 

ake, N D  58301 
Print Date : 0111812019 

Event # 
181 1210002 

Date : 1 1/21/2018 Day : Wednesday Time : 00:30:38 Dispatcher ID  :SMB Agency : DLPD Source: 0 
Beat : Sector : District : 36 
Fire # :  Med # :  1851 

Address : DL 
Location : ARMOUR ST S BND 

City : DEVILS LAKE 

I ncident # 

Other I nc. #1 

County : RAMSEY 

Other I nc. #2 

State: ND 
-,. - - - - --
�;_, .,:. -- - C 

• ijEPORTING PARTY INfORMATION 
Name : 

Location : 

Phone : Requests Contact : N 

Un it : Lake Region Amb Unit : Andrew Johnson Total Consumed 1------------------+-----------------1 Minutes of al l 

t-O_ffi_1c_e_r_1D_: _______________ offi_1_ce_r_lD_:_A_J_O_H_N_S_A_n_d_re_w_J_o_h_n_s_o_n_-t associated Units : 
Dispatch Time : 1 1/21/2018 01 :17:57 I"\ Dispatch Time : 1 1/21/2018 00:30:38 
Enroute Time : 1 1/21/2018 01 :19:08 

Arrive Time : 1 1/21/2018 01 :40:13 

Description : 

License Plate : PROZ4 1  / ND 

Location : DL 

Comment : NO STOPPING 

0 0 3 1  PDl 0 - HWY 2 0  SOUTH BOUND 

0 0 3 1  PDl 0 - REQUEST FT TOTTEN CONTACTED 

0 032 PDl 0 - HWY 2 0  DIKE 90 MPH 

0 032 PDl 0 - PASS ING ACORN RIDGE 100  MPH 

0 0 3 4  PDl 0 - COMING UP CASINO 

Enroute Time : 

Arrive Time : 1 1/21/2018 00:30:38 
Clear Time : 1 1/21/2018 02:14:16 

0035  PDl 0 - BIA TAKING LEAD , HE ' S  FOLLOWING . 

0 0 3 8  BIA COMING INTO FT TOTTEN , SPEEDS AT 1 0 0  MPH . 

0 0 4 0 - 4535  REQUESTED 4122  BE CONTACTED 

0 0 4 0 - BIA CROW HILL HOUSING TURN , SOUTH BND 

0 0 4 1 - BIA COMING UP OF GRAVEL SOUTH OF BIA 8 

0 0 4 3 - CALLED FT TOTTEN- TO GET LOCATION , EST BOUND 35 ST NE 

0 0 4 4 - EST BOUND ON 35 ST NE FROM 7 0  AVE NE 

153 

Dispatch ID : 

•
6 BIA VEHICLE 10-50  

8 =  CONTACTED FT  TOTTEN AVE AT THE CURVE 

0 1 1 6- FT TOTTEN PD- RQST LR AMB FOR MALE C/O BACK PAIN . 

LR AMB TRANSPORTED TO CHI . 

SMB 
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Lake Region 
Law Enforcement Center 

alnut Street West 
ake, N D  58301 

#/!Jt¥f/, 
Cal ls For Service vtl,9 
Deta i l  Pa e {( t.-t./ 

Print Date : Event # 
01/18/2019 18121 70018 

Date : 1211 7/2018 Day : Monday Time : 13:22:34 Dispatcher ID  :scK Agency : DLPD Source: p 
Beat : Sector : 

Fire # : 

Address : 
Location : 12 A VE SE HWY 2 

City : DEVILS LAKE 

District : 36 
Med # :  

Incident # 

Other Inc. #1 

County : RAMSEY 

:. _ REPORTING PARTY INFORMATION 
Name : LORDSON, JOSEPH 09/10/1988 
Location : 12 A VE SE 

Other Inc. #2 

State: ND 

Phone : 701 230-9007 Requests Contact : N 

Un it : Erin Bonney 
Minutes of al l 

1-
o
_

ffl
_
1ce
_

r
_
1D
_:_E_

B_O_
N_N_E_

E
_
r:
_in_B_o_n_n_e_y ____ +-

o
_
ffl
_ce_r_

1D_: N
_H_O_L_

Ti_'E_
N_ic_k_o_l_a_s_H_o_lt_e_r_--t associated Units : 

Dispatch Time : 1211 7/2018 13:24:24 Dispatch Time : 12/1 7/2018 13:26:14 
Enroute Time : Enroute Time : 

Arrive Time : Arrive Time : 12117/2018 13:26:57 

Description : 

31 

Dispatch ID  : SCK 

RE PORTS : ND LIC 92 8APU MAR IMPALA IS DRIVING SUSPICIOUSLY . STATES IT  IS  DRIVING VERY 

SLOW AND MAKING EXTENDED STOPS AT STOP SIGNS . 

1 3 2 3  PURSUIT OE YEH�e .. 
1324 PASS TNG EDS BAITSHOP SP�EDS AT 

1 3 2 6  CASINO 

:iB28 0 LONG:E;R CAN SEE VEHieLE 

*Vehicle Stop* 

Time : 1 3 : 2 6 : 5 9 / Unit : NHOLTE 

License Plate : 92 8APU 

Location : LEEVERS S 

Comment : 

* * *  

/ ND /  PC 

Disposition : TKO 
ments : 

Taken Care Of (Closed) 

Printed By/On: JKF / 01/1 8/201 9  1 5:22:22 
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Licensed to: LAKE REGION LAW ENFORCEMENT CENTER 
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Lake Region 
Law Enforcement Center 

;I 8Ja4 /p 

Cal ls For Service , tf 9 
Deta i l  Pa e /ii' 

alnut Street West 
ake, N D  58301 

Print Date : 0111812019 
Event # 

1901060045 
Date :01/06/2019 Day : Sunday Time : 20:43:23 Dispatcher I D  LAC Agency : DLPD Source: p 
Beat : Sector : 

Fire # :  Med # :  

Address : 800 BLK 10 
Location : 800 BLK 10 ST NE 

City : DEVILS LAKE 

District : 36 I ncident # 

Other I nc. #1 

ST NE 

County : RAMSEY 

,. ·_ _ REPORTING PARTY INFORMATION 
Name : HOLTER, NICKOLAS 12/09/1983 
Location : 800 BLK 10 ST NE 

Other I nc. #2 

State: ND 

Phone : Requests Contact : N 

Un it : Corey Gilbertson 
Officer 10 : CGILBE Corey Gilbertson 
Dispatch Time :  01/06/2019 20:Jf5:2'li 
Enroute Time : 

Arrive Time : 01/06/2019 20:51 :19 

Description : 

Un it : Chad Engen 
Officer ID  : CENGEN Chad Engen 
Dispatch Time 

Enroute Time : 

Arrive Time : 01/06/2019 20:56:43 
Clear Time : 01/06/2019 22:11  :49 

RP CALLED IN A POSSIBLE 1 0 -55 DRIVING IRRATICALLY 

DOG RAN FROM VEHICLE YELLOW LAB 

ARREST : MICHAEL ELLISON 

CHARGE : DUI/ FLEE ING 

Disposition : ARR 
Comments : 

Subject Arrested 

Total Consumed 
Minutes of al l 
associated Un its 

314 

Dispatch ID : 

EMO Code: 

LAC 
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Lake Region 
µ � /;}_lj "' 

Cal ls For Service If 5 
Deta i l  Pa e '(d-'1/1 Law Enforcement Center 

alnut Street West 
ake, ND 58301 

Print Date : 0111812019 
Event # 

1901070014 
Date :01/07/2019 Day : Monday Time : 10:54:03 Dispatcher ID  :PAL Agency : DLPD Source: 0 

Beat : Sector : District : 36 
Fire # :  Med # :  

Address : EDS SOUTH BOUND 
Location : 1600 BLK HWY 20 S 

City : DEVILS LAKE 

I ncident # 

Other I nc. #1 

county : RAMSEY 
:. REPORTING PARTY INFORMATI_ON 
Name : 

Location : 

Other I nc. #2 

State : ND 

Phone : Requests Contact : N 

Un it : Bryce Masset 
Officer 10  : BMASSE Bryce Masset 
Dispatch Time : 01/07/2019 10:54:03 
Enroute Time : 

Arrive Time : 01/07/2019 10:54:03 

Description 

License Plate : 22 8AVK / ND 

Location : EDS SOUTH BOUND 

Comment : 

Un it : Nickolas Holter 
Officer 10 : NHOL TE Nickolas Holter 
Dispatch Time : 01/07/2019 10:58:45 
Enroute Time : 01/07/2019 10:58:46 

Arrive Time : 01/07/2019 1 1  :03:06 
Clear Time : 01/07/2019 1 1:22:33 

NOT STOPPING HEADING SOUTH BOUND ON HWY 2 0  

1 0 : 54 - MP 1 0 1  

1 0 : 55 

1 0 : 55 - MP 

1 0 : 5 6 - MP 9 9  STILL HEADING SOUTH BOUND 

1 0 : 5 6 - CAMP GRAFTON 58  MPH 

1 0 : 57  - VEHICLE PULLED OVER 

ARREST : JOEL WAGNER 

Disposition : ARR 
Comments : 

Subject Arrested 

Total Consumed 
Minutes of al l 
associated Units 

106 

Dispatch ID : 

EMO Code: 

PAL 

Printed By/On: JKF / 01/18/20 1 9 1 5: 1 1 :04 
CrimeStar® Law Enforcement Records Management System 

Licensed to: LAKE REGION LAW ENFORCEMENT CENTER 
1 1111111 11111 111111 111 11111 11111 11111 1m1 11111 11111 1111 111111 11111 11111 11111 1111 1111 



Lake Region 
Law Enforcement Center 

alnut Street West 
ake, N D  58301 

H8 /J-qtp 
Cal ls For Service 11 t11� 9 Deta i l  Pa e o-ie_,  1 

Print Date : Event # 
01/18/2019 

Date :01/1212019 Day : Saturday Time : 10:37:44 Dispatcher ID :sKR 
Beat : Sector : District : 36 
Fire # :  Med # :  

Address : 1200 BLK HWY 20 
Location : 1200 BLK HWY 20 SE 

City : DEVILS LAKE 

I ncident # 

Other Inc. #1 

County : RAMSEY 

SE 

190112001 1 
Agency : DLPD Source: 0 

Other Inc. #2 

State: ND 
' "� .. ' 

. REPORTING PARTY INFORMATION , . . .. . ,_.,_..:.:, . \7i 

Name : 

Location : 

Phone : Requests Contact : N 

Un it : Bryce Masset Un it : Ft Totten PD Total Consumed 1------------------+------------------1 Minutes of al l  
Officer I D  : BMASSE Bryce Masset Officer ID : associated Units : 
Dispatch Time : 01/1212019 10;37..: 

Enroute Time : 

Arrive Time : 01/1212019 10:37:44 

Description : 

License Plate : 

Location : HWY 2 0  

Comment : NOT STOPPING 

/ ND 

1 038- PASS ING EDS BAIT SHOP 

Dispatch Time : 01/1212019 10:52:41 
Enroute Time 

Arrive Time : 01/1212019 1 1  :04:27 
Clear Time : 01/1212019 1 1:51:05 

1 0 3 9- DLPD 1 8  FIRST VEHICLE , DLPD 14 2ND VEHICLE 

1 03 9 - MODERATE TRAFFIC 

1 0 4 0 -

1 0 4 1 - PASS ING HWY 

1 04 2 - PASSED ST MICHAEL TURN OFF , SPEEDS 

360 

Dispatch ID : 

1 0 43-PASSING BIA 1 5  SPEEDS 100  MPH , ROAD CONDITIONS MODERATE , 1 0 4 4 -TRAFFIC LIGHT 

1 0 4 4 - PASSING SULLY ' S  HILL 

1 0 45-BIA TAKES LEAD , DLPD 1 8  SECOND VEHICLE , DLPD 14 3RD VEHICLE 

1 0 4 5 - COMING INTO FT TOTTEN 

1 0 4 6-PASSING FOUR WINDS SCHOOL 

0 -WB BIA 8 ,  SPEEDS 90- 1 0 0  MP.H 

1 052- BACK ON HWY 5 7  TURNED EAST BOUND , SPEEDS 90-100  MPH 

1 05 3 -EAST BOUND PASS ING FOUR WINDS SCHOOL 

SKR 
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Lake Region 
Law Enforcement Center 

a lnut Street West 

Lake ,  N D  58301 

Date :01115/2019 Day : Tuesday 
Beat : Sector : 

Fire # : Med # :  

Print Date : 0111812019 

I-I Bt('J-q (p 
Cal ls For Service ,1!f 1 
Detai l Pa e u � 'i 

Event # 
1901150041 

Time : 19:1 7:06 Dispatcher I D  LAC Agency : HP Source: p 
District : I ncident # 

Other I nc. #1 Other I nc. #2 

Address : HWY 2 8TH AVE 
Location : HWY 2 I 8TH A VE 

City : DEVILS LAKE 

Name : 

Location : 

Phone : 

Unit : Brett Mlynar 
Officer 10 : BML YNA Brett Mlynar 
Dispatch Time : 01/15/2019 19:19:49 
Enroute Time 

Arrive Time : 01/15/2019 19:32:06 

Description : 

county : RAMSEY State: ND 
REPORTING PARTY INFORMATION 

Unit : 

Officer I D : 

Dispatch Time : 

Enroute Time : 

Arrive Time : 

Requests Contact : N 

Total Consumed 
Minutes of al l  
associated Units : 

83 

Dispatch ID : 

HP CALLED IN TO ADVICE A s:r.J;T '8" d91,i,J:Ciiil,&,.WAS HEADED TOWARDS DEVILS LAKE . 

TURNED INTO A PURSUIT .  

REFERENCE # 1 90 1 1 5 0042  

Disposition : RPT 
Comments 

Report Taken EMO Code: 

LAC 

Printed By/On: JKF / 01/1 8/201 9  1 5: 1 6:40 
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Lake Region 
Law Enforcement Center 

alnut Street West 

f-/ (3 I ;)C, J, 
Cal ls For Service ,1:,� 11 
Deta i l  Pa e "- c; 

ake, N D  58301 
Print Date : 0111812019 

Event # 
1812110013 

Date : 1211 1/2018 Day : Tuesday Time : 07:54:01 Dispatcher I D  :sKR Agency : RCSO Source: 0 

Beat : Sector : 

Fire # : Med # :  

Address : 

Location : DEVILS LAKE AREA 
City : DEVILS LAKE 

District : 36 I ncident # 

Other I nc. #1 

County : RAMSEY 
� ... REPORTING PARTY INFORMATION 
Name : 

Location : 

Other I nc. #2 

State: ND 

Phone : 701 Requests Contact : N 

Un it : Jennifer Dvorak Unit : Kyle Mlynar Total consumed 11------------------+-----------------t Minutes of all 
Officer ID : JDVORA Jennifer Dvorak Officer ID  : KML YNA Kyle Mlynar associated Un its : 
Dispatch Time : 12/1 1/2018 07:54:16 Dispatch Time : 12/1 1/2018 07:57:16 
Enroute Time : Enroute Time 

Arrive Time : 12/1 1/2018 07:57:20 Arrive Time : 12/1 1/2018 08:00:41 
Clear Time : 12/1 1/2018 08:46:13 

Description 

BOLO STOLEN VEHICLE FROM DEVILS LAKE ND/LIC 99 6BYL RED 2 0 0 4  FORD ESCAPE . 

*Vehicle Stop* 

Time : 0 8 : 03 : 13 / Unit :  KMLYNA 

License Plate : 9 9 6BYL 

Location : 92 AVE HWY 2 

Comment : 

* * *  

/ ND /  PC 

0 8 0 3  HP303- ATTEMPTED TRAFFIC STOP �2. �.� --

0 8 0 4 - HP30 3  VEHICLE NORTH BOUND T OUGH CRARY 

0 8 0 6- HP30 3  

0 8 0 7 - HP30 3  SPEEDS 

0 8 0 8  HP30 3  96 AVE (CO RD 4 )  

0 8 0 9  HP 3 0 3  SPEEDS 9 0  MPH 

0 8 1 3  HP303 96 AVE S HWY 2 ,  SPEEDS 88 MPH 

60 

Dispatch ID : 

9 HP303 TERMINATED PURSUIT , HIT RESERVATION LINE . VEHICLE LAST SEEN 33 ST NE 94 

NE S BND 

0 8 2 0 - ADVISED 4530  PER 4532 

BIA/BSCO LOCATED 2 SUBJECTS WALKING , VEHICLE IN HAMAR SOUTH OF THE BAR. VEHICLE RAN 

SKR 

Printed By/On: JKF / 01/18/201 9  1 5:23:50 
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Lake Region 
Law Enforcement Center 

Cal l� For Service
'!
:!�" Deta i l  Pa e fl ,(_ HJ 

alnut Street West 
ake, ND 58301 

Date : 12123/2018 Day : Sunday 
Beat : Sector : 

Fire # : 

Address : 

Location : RAMSEY CO 
City : 

Med # :  

Print Date : 0111812019 
Event # 

Time : 22:02:34 Dispatcher ID :SMB 
District : 36 Incident # 

Other Inc. #1 

county : RAMSEY 

1812230041 
Agency : RCSO Source: 0 

Other Inc. #2 

State: ND 

E·; -· -_ . .. . 
. 

.R�PORTING PARTY INFORMATION . - -
Name : 

Location : 

Phone : 

Un it : Sam Valdez Unit : 

Officer ID : SVALDE Sam Valdez Officer ID : 

Dispatch Time : 12/23/2018 22:02:34 Dispatch Time : 

Enroute Time : Enroute Time 

Arrive Time : 12/23/2018 22:02:34 Arrive Time : 

Description : 

co 

RE F  EVENT# 1 8 12 2 3 0 0 4 0  & 1 8 12230047 

2218 HP3 1 9-BEHIND VEHICLE HWY 2 EST HEFTI REST AREA 

2 2 1 8  4535- VEHICLE NORTH BOUND 8 9  AVE NE 

2220  4535- TAIL LIGHTS TO THE WEST OF 8 9  AVE NE 

2221  4535- REQUESTED 4 5 3 0  BE CONTACTED 

2223 HP3 1 9  OUT WITH VEHICLE 88 AVE NE 45 ST NE 

222 6 HP3 1 9 - DRIVER FLED SOUTH BOUND TOWARD HWY 2 

2228  HP3 1 9  DRIVER FLED SOUTH AND WEST TOWARD VINING OIL 

2237  HP3 1 9  REQUESTED COWBOYS TOWING 

Requests Contact : N 

Total Consumed 
Minutes of al l  
associated Un its : 

187 

Dispatch ID : 

2305- 4535- PURSUIT SILVER GMC SIERRA TOOL BOX IN THE BACK , HWY 2 EST BND HEFTI REST 

AREA . VEHICLE PULLED OUT OF VINING OIL 

2 3 0 6- 4535- VEHICLE POSSILBY HEADED BACK EAST BOUND OR SOUTH BOUND WOODS RUTTEN WOOD 

4 - ADVI SED FT TOTTEN PD . 

NELSON CO STOPPED GRN CHEVY S ILVERADO HWY 1 MM 1 5 9 . 

RE F  EVENT# 1 8 12230042  

SMB 

Printed By/On: JKF / 01/1 8/201 9  1 5:21 :20 
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Lake Region 
Law Enforcement Center 

alnut Street West 
ake, N D  58301 

Date : 12/23/2018 Day : Sunday 
Beat : Sector : 

Fire # :  

Address : 
Location : NELSON CO 

City : 

Name : 

Location : 

Phone : 

Un it : Lakota Amb 

Med # :  

/-f B R c, t,, 

Cal ls For Service ,1':.,;t, Deta i l  Pa e fl l 1 1  .---------------.---=:::..._;=-==..::....::......::....____::.=..,;;.,-.:=:...._ ____ �-:,,. 
Print Date : 0111812019 

Event # 

Time : 22:05:23 Dispatcher ID  :SMB 
District : 32 Incident # 

Other Inc. #1 

county : NELSON 

1812230042 
Agency : NCSO Source: 0 

Other I nc. #2 

State: ND 
REPORTING PARTY INFORMATION 

Requests Contact : N 

Un it : Jesse Madche Total Consumed -----------------+-----------------+ Minutes of al l  
Officer ID : Officer ID : JMADCH Jesse Madche associated Units : 
Dispatch Time : 12123/2018 23:49:58 Dispatch Time : 12/23/2018 23:44:18 
Enroute Time : 12/23/2018 23:56:07 Enroute Time : 12/23/2018 23:44:19 

Arrive Time : 12/24/2018 00:03:02 Arrive Time : 12/23/2018 23:49:40 

• 
Clear Time : 12/24/2018 00:47:15 Clear Time : 12/24/2018 01:09:49 

Description : 

BOLO POSSIBLE STOLEN VEHICLE ND)  74 8BVK FROM TRAILL CO 

REF EVENT# 1 8 122 3 0 0 4 0 ,  1 8 12230041  & 1812230047  

103 

Dispatch ID : SMB 

2 3 0 5 -ADVISED 4 4 8 1  OF 94  S ILVER CHEVY SILVERADO TRUCK WITH TOOL BOX IN THE BACK , TAKEN 

FROM VINING OIL . 

*Vehicle S top* 

Time : 23 : 34 : 23 / Unit : SFALLO 

License Plate : / ND /  PC 

Location : HWY 2 HWY 1 S BND 

Comment : PURSUIT GRN CHEVY 

* * *  

2333- 4 4 8 1 - IN PURSUIT GRN CHEVY HWY 2 HWY 1 SOUTH BOUND 

2 3 3 4 - 4 4 8 1 - VEHICLE STOPPED HWY 1 2 MI S LAKOTA (ACTUAL LOCATION HWY 1 MM 1 5 9 )  

2 3 3 5 - 4 4 8 1 - MALE OUT O F  THE VEHICLE 

2335- 4 4 8 1 - MALE BY SQUAD CAR ON HIS KNEES 

ENROUTE 

83  MALE 
•

6-HP3 1 3 -

7 - 4 4 8 1 -

2 3 3 9 - 4 4 8 1 - REQUEST UNIT , MALE HARMING HIMSELF IN BACK SEAT . 

2 3 4 3 - 4 4 8 1 - MALE ON GROUND FIGHTING 

Printed By/On: JKF / 01/1 8/201 9 1 5: 12:58 
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19.0311.01001 
Title. 

Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for 
the House Judiciary Committee 

January 22, 2019 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO HOUSE BILL NO.  1 296 

Page 1, line 14, after "while" insert "willfully" 

Page 1, line 16, after "driver" insert "willfully" 

Page 1, line 19, after "driver" insert "willfully" 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 19.031 1 .01 001 
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Representative Corey Mock 
Distr ict 18 
P.O .  Box 12542 
Grand Forks , ND 58208-2542 

C: 70 1-732-0085 
crmock@nd.gov 

To: Chairwoman Diane Larson and Members of the Senate Judiciary Committee 
Date: March 18, 2019 
Support Testimony for HB 1296 -- Enhanced Fleeing 

COMMITTEES: 
Appropr iations 

Good morning, Madam Chair and members of the committee. My name is Corey Mock, representative 
for District 18 in Grand Forks, ND, and I am here today as one of the sponsors of HB 1296 . 

On the morning of Thursday, August 2nd of last year, I inadvertently found myself as one of the first 
people on the scene of a single car crash near St. Mary's Catholic Church and Early Childhood 

ducational Center in downtown Grand Forks. The vehicle was severed in half after barreling into a 
large oak tree, spreading debris across church property and into adjacent yards. 

While the loss of the driver's life is tragic, parents who would be soon dropping off their children are 
immensely fortunate this crash did not occur two hours later. 

At 5: 15 am, the driver refused to stop and engaged in a high-speed evasion of the Grand Forks police 
officer. As this 33-year old driver neared downtown, police said he "rapidly accelerated and turned off 
his headlights, in further attempts to elude the officer." 

Police terminated the pursuit because of the danger this chase posed to the public. Shortly after the 
pursuit was called off, however, dispatch was notified that the car had crashed into a tree, causing 
extreme damage and ultimately ejecting the driver from the vehicle, who died at the scene. 

Madam Chair and committee members, I wish I could tell you this was an anomaly in Grand Forks. I'd 
like to tell you that news of high-speed pursuits are so rare they're treated as "breaking news."  Like so 

any communities across the state, however, news of pursuits have become a regular feature. 



2 -kt- · \ 
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HB 1 296 was drafted at the request of law enforcement officers i n  the Grand Forks area. And I want to 
take the moment to mention that we were not the only community working on legislation for the 201 9 
session. 

Chairwoman Larson and Rep.  Pat Heinert -- both of Bismarck -- had drafted s im ilar legislation that 
created a felony charge for fleeing law enforcement in a motor vehicle . Consensus among bill 
sponsors,  law enforcement, and states attorneys suggested the language before you delivered an 
appropriately tiered charge based on the severity of a pursuit. 

Several law enforcement agencies and j udicial associations testified and worked in support of this 
legislation on the House side , and some may be here to testify today. In a moment I hope you 'll afford 
them the opportunity to share their experiences and rationale behind HB 1 296 . 

Before I turn it over to questions and subsequent testimony, however, I would like to share some 
additional information that we used in drafting this bill . 

Attached to this testimony you'll find a list of enhanced charges from 14 other states along with a 
summary of North Dakota's current law. This is not a comprehensive list of all states with enhanced or 
tiered charges,  but a sample compiled by NCSL and used by sponsors as we explored options for an 
aggravated fleeing statute. 

The next pages include a copy of current assault charges from North Dakota's crim inal code (Title 12.1-
1 7) and our reckless driving charges (Title 39-08-03) . I'll reference the crim inal code during the 
explanation of the bill and you may be i nterested in reviewing the reckless driving statute as you 
consider current charges law enforcement has available to them in these cases . Finally , I have the 
classification of offenses and a sample of news stories that provide recent fleeing examples. 

Currently, any driver fleeing or eluding arrest may only be charged with a class A misdemeanor, unless 
it's a subsequent offense withi n  three years. 

Section 1 amends current penalties for fleeing or attempting to elude a peach officer, ultimately creating 
felony level charges if risk of death or serious bodily injury occur as a result of the drivers attempts to 
flee law enforcement. 

2. 



3 

Subsections are created beginning on line 11. Overstruck language on lines 12 and 13 become the 
new subsection B on lines 14 and 15. 

Substantive changes begin on line 16 with subsection C .  Similar to our reckless endangerment charges 
(12 .1-17-03) , a driver who willfully operates a vehicle in a manner constituting an inherent risk of death 
or serious bodily injury to a third person may be charged with a class C felony. 

There was a Subsection D in the original version which would've increased the charges to class B 
felony if the third person was a peace officer or child under the age of twelve (consistent with tiers and 
penalties listed in our aggravated assault statute) , however the House Judiciary removed this additional 
tier as they aligned the law more with our reckless endangerment statute instead of aggravated assault. 

The remainder of the section is unchanged from current law. 

Thank you again , Madam Chair and members of the committee . I hope this adequately explains the bill 
before you and prepares you for additional testimony that will begin momentarily. I'm especially grateful 
for the work done by numerous individuals and agencies to create the proposal that's before you and I 
hope the committee will eventually give HB 1296 favorable consideration . 

At this time I 'd be happy to entertain any questions the committee may have. 

3 



STATE STATUTE OFFENSE PENALTY ENHANCED PENALTY 
North Dakota 12.1-08-11 {Refusing to halt) prohibits an individual from B misdemeanor for a Class A misdemeanor for a subsequent offense. 

willful ly fal ling er refusing to stop or otherwise first or second 
flee er attempt to elude, in any manner, a offense. 
pursuing.peace officer, when given a visual or 
audible signal to stop. 

North Dakota 39-10-71 {F leeing o r  attempting to e lude a peace officer) Class A misdemeanor • Class C fe lony for a su bsequent offense within 
Prohibits a d river of a motor veh icle from for a first offense. three years. 
wi l lfu l ly fai ling or refusing to b ring the veh icle • Class C fe lony if v io lating th is section wh i le 
to a stop, o r  otherwise flee or  attempt to e lude, fleeing after or in the commission of a fe lony. 
in any manner, a pu rsuing police vehicle o r  
peace officer, when given a visual o r  audible 
signal to bring the vehicle- to a stop. 

·-

Michigan 750.479a ./ An eperater of a motor vehicle er vessel who Is Fourth-degree • Third-degree fleeing and eluding, a felony 
257.602a given by hand, voice, emergency l ight, or s iren fleeing and eluding, a punishable by imprisonment for not more than 5 

a visual er audible signal by a police or felony punishable by years or a fine of not more than  $5,000.00, or 
eonservatlon officer, act1ng in the lawful imprisonment for not both, If: 
performance of his or  her duty, directing the more than 2 years or a 0 l'he offense results in a collision or 
operator to bring h is or her motor vehicle or fine of not more than accident; 
vessel te a stop shal l nat willfu l ly fal l  to oh,ey $2,000.00, 0 The offense eacurred in an area where 
that direction by increasing the speed of the or both. the speed limit Is 35 mi les an hour or 
vehicle or vessel, e,rtlngulshlng the l ights of the less; or 
veh icle or ves-sel, er otherwise attempting to 0 The Individual has a prior conviction for 
flee or elude the pol ice or conservatlen officer. fourth-degree fleeing and eluding, 

attempted fourth-degree fleeing and 
eluding, or fleeing and eluding under a 
current or  former law of this state 
prohibiting substantia lly s imilar conduct. 

• Second-degree fleeing and eluding, a felony 
punishable by Imprisonment for not more than 
10 years or a fine of nat mare than $10,000.00, 

,· or both, if: 



North Carolina 20-141.5 .  (Speeding to e lude arrest) Prohibits an 
individual from operating a motor vehicle on a 
street, highway, or pub lic vehicu lar area while 
f leeing or attempting to elude a law 
enforcement officer who is in the lawfu l 
performance of his duties . 
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o The offense results In ser-iaus 
Impairment of a body function of an 
Individual; 

o The Individual has 1 or m0re prior 
convictions for first-, second-, or third­
degree fleeing and eluding, attempted 
first-, second-, or third-degree fleeing 
and eluding, or fleeing and elud1ng 
under a current or former law of this 
state prohibiting substantially similar 
conduct; or 

o The individual has any combination of 2 
or more prior convictions for fourth­
degree fleeing and eluding, attempted 
fourth-degree fleeing and eluding, or 
fleeing and eluding under a current or 
former law of this state p rohibiting 
substantially similar conduct. 

• First degree fleeing and eluding, a felany 
punishable by Imprisonment for net more than 
15 years or a fine of not more tha-n $15,000.00, 
or both, If the off-ense results In the death of 
an�ther individual. 

Class 1 misdemeanor • Class H fe lony if two or more of the fol lowing 
aggravating factors are present at the time the 
violation occu rs: 

o Speeding in excess of 15 miles per hou r  
over the legal speed limit. 

o Gross impairment of the person's 
facu lties while d riving due  to: 

• Consumption of an impairing 
substance; or 



• A blood alcohol concentration of 
0 . 14 or  more with in a relevant 
time after the d riving. 

0 Reckless d riving. 
0 Negligent d riving lead ing to an accident 

causing: 
• Property damage in excess of 

one thousand dolla rs {$ 1,000); 
o r  

• Personal injury . 
0 Driving when the person's d rivers 

license is revoked. 
0 Driving in excess of the posted speed 

limit, du ring the days and hou rs when 
the posted limit is in effect, on school 
property or in an area des ignated as a 
school zone. 

0 Passing a stopped school bus. 
0 Driving with a child under 12 yea rs of 

age in the vehicle. 
0 Is the proximate cause of the death of 

any person. 
• Class E felony if the offense is the proximate 

cause of the death of any person while violating 
the class H felony above. 

Iowa 321.279. (Eluding or attempting to elude pursuing law Serious misdemeanor • Aggravated mlsdemear-10r if the driver exceeds 
enforcement vehicle) The driver 0f a m0tor the speed limit by twenty-five miles per hour or 
vehicle may not wil lful ly fall to bring the metor more. 
vehicle to a step or otherwlse ·elude or attempt • Class D felony If the driver exceeds the speed 
to e lude a marked official law enforcement limit by twenty-five miles per haur or more, and 

. vehicle d riven by a uniformed peaee any of the f0l l0wlng occurs: 
offieer after being given a visual and audible 0 The driver Is partlolpatlng In a public 
signal to stop. offense that Is a felony. 



0 The driver Is operating the vehicle while 
under the lnfluencie of alcohol or a drug 
or while having an alcehol concentratk>n 
of .es or more, er Is In the possession of 

1,
: 

a mntrolled substance. ' 
0 The offense results In bodily Injury to a 

persen other than the driver. 
South Dakota 32-33-18 (Fa i l u re to stop at the s ignal of law Class 2 m isdemeanor • Class 1 misdemeanor if after fai l ing or refusing 

enforcement officer) Any d river of a vehicle to bring a vehicle to a stop the driver flees from 
who intentionally fa i l s  or refuses to bring a the law enforcement officer or attempts to 
vehicle to a stop, when g iven visua l  or aud ible elude the pursu it of the law enforcement officer. 
s ignal to bring the vehicle to a stop, is gu i lty of • Class 6 fe lony if the d river du ring the f l ight or 
fa i l u re to stop at the signal of a law pursu it, the d river operates the vehicle in a 
enforcement officer. manner that constitutes an inherent risk of 

death or serious bodi ly inju ry to any thi rd 
person. 

Oregon 811.540 fFleeing Qr attempting to elude police officers,) • Class A 
A person commits the crime Qf fleeing or misdemeanor If 
attempting to e lude a police offieer if: The person gets 
• lhe person Is operating a motor vehicle; out of the vehicle 

and and knowingly 
• A pelice officer whe is In uniform and flees or attempts 

prominently displaying the police officer's to elude the police 
badge of office or operating a veh icle officer. 
a ppropriately marked showing it to be an • Class C felony if 
official police veh icle gives a visual Qr the person, while 
aud ible signal to bring the vehicle to a stop, still in the vehicle, 
Including any signal by hand, v0ice, knowingly flees or 

1 , emergency light or siren. attempts to e lude 
a pursuing police 
officer. 

Minnesota 609 .487 (F leeing peace officer) Whoever by means of a Felony; may be • Imprisonment for not more than 40 years or to 
motor vehicle flees or attempts to flee a peace sentenced to payment of a f ine of not more than $80,000, or 
officer who is acting in the lawfu l  d ischarge of imprisonment for not both if the cou rse of flee ing resu lts in death. 
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an officia l duty, and the perpetrator knows or more than three years • Imprisonment for not more than seven years or 
shou ld reasonably know the same to be a and one day to payment of a fine of not more than $ 14,000, 
peace officer. or to payment of a or both if the course of fleeing resu lts in great 

fine of not more than bodily harm. 
$5,000, or both. • Imprisonment for not more than five years or to 

payment of a fine of not more than $10,000, or 
both if the course of fleeing resu lts in substantia l 
bodily harm. 

• Misdemeanor for whoever, for the purpose of 
avoiding arrest, detention, or investigation, or in 
order to concea l  or destroy potentia l evidence 
related to the commission of a crime, attempts 

.. 
to evade or e l ude a peace off\cer, who is acting 
in the lawfu l discharge of an officia l  duty, by 
means of running, hiding, or by any other means 
except f leeing in a motor vehic le . 

Utah 41-Ga-210. (Fleeing) An operat0r who receives a visual ar Fel0ny of the third Fel0ny of the second degree if while sa daing causes 
audible signal from a law enforcement efficer degree. death or serleus badlly injury to another person, 
to bring the vehicle to a stop may not attempt under circumstances not amounting to murder or 
to flee er elude a law- enfareement officer by aggravated murder. 
vehicle or other means. 

Alabama BA-10-52 ( F leeing or attempting to e lude law Class A misdemeanor C lass C felony if the flight or attempt to e lude causes 
enforcement officer) an actua l  death o r  physica l injury to innocent 
• It is unl awful for a person to intentiona l ly bystanders or third pa rties. 

flee by any means from anyone the person 
knows to be a law enforcement officer if 
the person knows the officer  is attempting 
to arrest the person. 

• It is unlawful for a person whil e  operating a 
motor vehic le on a street, road, a l ley, or 
highway in this state, to intentiona l ly flee 
or attem pt to elude a law enforcement 
officer  after  having received a signal  from 
the officer to bring the vehicle to a stop. 



Florida 316. 1935 {Fleeing or attempting to elude a law Feleny of the third • Felony of the second degree if t-he ·person drives 
enforcement offtcer; aggravated fleeing or degree at h igh speed, or In any manner which 

I, eluding) dem8nstrates a wanton disregard for the safety 
• It Is unlawful for the operator of any of persons or property. 

veh icle, having knowledge that he or she • Felony of the first degree if t-he person drives at 
has been ordered t8 stop such vehlde by a h igh speed, or in any manner which 

I • duly authorized law enforcement Elfficer, demonstrates a wanton d isregard for the safety 
wil lfu l ly to refuse or fall ta stop the vehicle I" of persons or property, and causes serious 

i: I• 
I • in eompllance with such order or, having bedlly Injury or death to another persen, 
1 , stopped In knowing compliance with such Including any law enforcement efflcer involved 

erder, wil lfu l ly to flee in an attempt te 
I• In pursu ing or otherwise attempting to effect a 

elude the officer. stop of the persen's vehicle. 
:'. • Any persen who wil lfu l ly flees or attempts 

to elude a law enforcement officer in an 
authorized law enforcement patrc.,I vehitle, 
with agency Insignia and other 
jurisdictional markings prominently 
displayed on the vehicle, with siren and 
lights activated. 

West Virginia 61-5-17 {Obstructing officer; fleeing from officer} 1. M isdemeanor • Felony (fined not less than $ 1,000 nor more than 
1 .  A person may not intentiona lly flee or  (fined not less $2,000 and shall be imprisoned in a state 

attempt to flee by any means other  than than $50 nor correctiona l facility not less than one nor more 
the use of a vehicle from a law- more than $500 than five years )  if the person operates the 
enforcement officer, probation officer or 

,, _/ , . .  
or confined in jail vehicle in a manner showing a reckless 

paro le officer acting in his or  her officia l  not more than indifference to the safety of others .  
capacity who  is attempting t-� ·make a one yea r, or both). • Misdemeanor (fined not less than $1,000 nor 
lawful a rrest of the person, and who knows 2. M isdemeanor more than $3,000 and shall be confined in jail 
o r  reasonably believes that the officer is (fined not less for not less than six months nor more than one 
attempting to arrest him or her. than $500 nor year) if the person causes damage to the real o r  

2 .  A person may intentionally flee or attempt more than $ 1,000 personal property of a person du ring or resulting 
to flee in a vehicle from a law-enforcement and shall be from his or her flight. 
officer, probation officer or  pa role officer confined in a • Felony ( imprisoned in a state correctional facility 
acting in his or her official ca pacity after the regional ja il not not less than th ree nor more than ten yea rs) if 

Cf 



officer has given a clea r visua l  or aud ible more than one the person causes bodi ly inj u ry to a person 
signa l d i recting the person to stop year) . du ring or resu lting from his or her fl ight . 

• Fe lony ( imprisoned in a state correctiona l  
fac i l ity for not less than five nor more than 
fifteen yea rs) if the person causes death to a 
person du ring or resu lt ing from his or her fl ight. 

• Felony ( imprisoned in a state correctiona l  faci l ity 
not less than three nor more than ten years) if 
the person is under the influence of a lcohol, 
control led substances or  d rugs. 

Mississippi 97-9-72 (,Driver fail ing to stop motor vehicle pursuant to M isdemeanor (a fine • Felony (a fine not to exceed $5,000:00, or  by 
signal of law enforcement officer) The driver of not ta exceed $1, commitment to the custody of the M ississippi 
a motar vehicle who Is given a visible or audible 009.00 or Imprisoned Department of Corrections for not more than 
s ignal by a law enforcement officer by hand, In the county Jail for a fwe (5) years, or both) if the person operates the 
voic.e, emergency light or s·lren d irecting the term not to exceed six motor vehicle in such a manner as to indicate a 
driver ta bring his motor vehicle to a stop when (,6) m0nths, 0r both. reckless er wil lful d isregard for the safety of 
such signal Is given· by a law enforcement " persons or property, or who so operates a mator 
offiee-r acting In the lawful pellformance cf duty vehicle in a manner manifesting extreme 

, who has a reasonable suspicion to believe that indifference te the value of human life. 
the driver In question has committed a crime, • Feleny ('Imprisonment for not less than three (3) 
and who wlllfully falls to ebey such dlrectlen. nor more than twenty (20J years) If the person's 

flight results in the seriaus bodily Injury of 
,_ 

another. 
• Felony (,Imprisonment for nat less five (5) nor 

la 
mare than forty (40) years) if the pers0n's flight 
results in the death of another. 

Pennsylvania 3733 (Fleeing or attempting to elude police officer) Misdemeanor of the • Felony of the third degree if the driver while 
Any driver of a motor vehicle who willfully fails second degree. Any f leeing or attempting to elude a police officer 
or refuses to bring his vehicle to a stop, or who d river upon conviction does a ny of the following: 
otherwise flees or attempts to elude a pursuing shall pay an additional 0 Drives under influence of a lcohol or 
police officer, when given a visual and audible fine of $500. controlled substance; 
signal to bring the vehicle 0 Crosses a State l ine; or  
to a stop. 
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0 endangers a law enforcement officer  or 
member of the genera l public due to the 
d river engaging in a high-speed chase. 

Al1cansas 5-54-125 f Fleeing) If a person knows that h is or her Class C misdemeanor • Class B misdemeanor if the defendant has been 
immediate arrest or detention is being prevlously convicted of fleeing on foot anytime 
attempted by a duly authorized law within the past one-year period. 
enforcement officer, it Is the lawful duty of the • Class A misdemeanor if property damage oca,rs 
person to refrain from fleeing, eltf:'ler on foot or as a direct result of the fleeing on foot. 
by means of any vehicle or conveyance. • Class D feleny if serious physical injury oGCUrs to 

any person as a direct result of the fleeing on 
foot. ' • Class A misdemeanor if fleeing by means of any 
vehlele or conveyanee. 

• Class D felony when fleeing by means of any 
vehicle or oonveyance and under circumstances 

1 , manifesting extreme indifference to the value of 
- II • 

human life, a persan purpesely operates the 
vehicle or conveyance in such a manner that 
creates a substantial danger of death or  serious 
physical injury to an0ther person. 

• Class C felony if serious physical injury te any 
"· 

person occurs as a direct result of flee ing by 
means of any vehicle or conveyance. 

Georgia 40-6-395 (F leeing or attempting to e lude a police officer) High and aggravated • Fined not less than $1,000.00 nor more than 
It is unlawfu l for any d river of a vehicle wi l lfu l ly misdemeanor and $5,000.00 for a second conviction within a ten-
to fail or refuse to bring his or her vehicle to a upon conviction sha l l  yea r  period of time. 
stop or otherwise to f lee or attempt to e lude a be fined not less than • Fined not less than $2,500.00 nor more than 
pu rsuing police vehic le or police officer when $500.00 nor more $5,000.00 for third or subsequent conviction 
given a visua l or an audible signal to bring than $5,000.00. within a ten-yea r period of t ime. 
the vehicle to a stop. • Fe lony (punishable by a fine of $5,000.00 or 

imprisonment for not less than one yea r nor 
more than five yea rs or both) if the driver: 

l l  



0 Operates his or her vehic le in excess of 
20 miles an hou r above the posted 
speed limit; 

0 Strikes or col lides with another vehicle 
or a pedestrian; 

0 F lees in traffic conditions which p lace 
the genera l pub lic at risk of receiving 
serious inju ries; 

0 Drives under the influence of a lcohol, 
drugs, or toxic vapor; or 

0 Leaves the state. 
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CHAPTER 1 2. 1 -1 7  
ASSAU LTS - THREATS - COERCION - HARASSMENT 

1 2. 1 -1 7-01 . Simple assau lt. 
1 .  A person i s  gu ilty of an offense i f  that person : 

a .  Willfully causes bod ily i njury to another human being ;  or  
b .  Negligently causes bod ily injury to another human being by means of  a f irearm, 

destructive device, or other weapon , the use of which against a human being is 
likely to cause death or serious bod ily i njury. 

2. The offense is :  
a. A class C felony when the victim is a peace officer or correctional i nstitution 

employee acting in an official capacity, wh ich the actor knows to be a fact; an 
employee of the state hospital acting  in  the course and scope of employment, 
which the actor knows to be a fact, and the actor is an individual committed to or 
deta ined at the state hospital pursuant to chapter 25-03. 3; a person engaged i n  a 
jud icial proceeding ;  or a member of a mun icipal or volunteer f ire department or 
emergency medical services personnel un it or emergency department worker in 
the performance of the member's duties. 

b. A class B misdemeanor for the f irst offense when the victim is an  actor's family or 
household member as defined in subsection 4 of section 1 4-07.1-01 and a 
class A misdemeanor for a second or subsequent offense whe n  the victim is an 
actor's family or household member as defined i n  subsection 4 of  section 
1 4-07.1 -01 and the actor has a prior conviction for s imple assault under th is 
section or an assault offense under section 1 2.1 -1 7-01.1 or 1 2 .1-17-02 involving 
the commission of domestic violence as def ined i n  subsection 2 of section 
1 4-07 .1 -0 1 .  For purposes of this subd ivision , a prior conviction includes a 
conviction of any assault offense i n  which a f ind ing of domestic violence was 
made under a law or ord inance of another state wh ich is equ ivalent to th is 
subd ivision. 

c. A class B misdemeanor except as provided i n  subdivision a or b .  

1 2. 1 -1 7-01 . 1 . Assau lt. 
A person is gu ilty of a class A misdemeanor, except if the victim is under the age of twelve 

years i n  wh ich case the offense is a class C felony, if that person :  
1 .  Willfully causes substantial bodily injury to another human being ;  or 
2. Negligently causes substantial bod ily i njury to another human being by means of a 

f irearm, destructive device, or other weapon,  the use of which against a human being 
is likely to cause death or serious bodily injury. 

1 2. 1 -1 7-02. Aggravated assault. 
1 .  Except a s  provided in subsection 2 ,  a person i s  guilty of a class C felony if that person : 

a. Willfully causes serious bod ily injury to another human being ;  
b. Knowingly causes bod ily i njury or substantial bod ily injury to another human 

being with a dangerous weapon or other weapon, the possession of wh ich under 
the ci rcumstances ind icates an i ntent or readiness to infl ict serious bod ily i njury; 

c. Causes bod ily i njury or substantial bod ily i njury to another human being wh ile 
attempting to inflict serious bod ily injury on any human being ;  or 

d. Fi res a fi rearm or hurls a destructive device at another human being .  
2. The person is gu ilty of a class B felony if the person violates subsection 1 and the 

victim: 
a .  Is under twelve years o f  age; 
b. Is a peace officer or correctional i nstitution employee acting i n  an  official capacity, 

which the actor knows to be a fact; or 
c. Suffers permanent loss or impairment of the function of a bod ily member or 

organ .  
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1 2. 1 -1 7-03. Reckless endangerment. 
A person is gu i lty of an offense if he creates a substantial risk of serious bod i ly injury or 

death to another. The offense is a class C felony if the circumstances manifest h is extreme 
indifference to the value of human l ife. Otherwise it is a c lass A misdemeanor. There is r isk 
with in the meaning of this section if the potential for harm exists, whether or not a particu lar 
person's safety is actual ly jeopardized . 

1 2. 1 -1 7-04. Terrorizing.  
A person is gu ilty of a class C felony if, with intent to place another human be ing in  fear  for 

that human being's or another's safety or to cause evacuation of a bu i ld ing, place of assembly, 
or facil ity of publ ic transportation, or otherwise to cause serious d isruption or pub l ic  
inconven ience, or in reckless d isregard of the risk of causing such terror, d isruption , or 
inconvenience, the person :  

1 .  Threatens to commit any crime of violence or act dangerous to human l ife ; or 
2. Falsely informs another that a situation dangerous to human l ife or commission of a 

crime of violence is imminent knowing that the i nformation is false . 

1 2. 1 -1 7-05. Menacing. 
A person is gu i lty of a class A misdemeanor if he knowingly places or attempts to p lace 

another human being in fea r  by menacing h im with imminent serious bod i ly injury. 

1 2. 1 -1 7-06. Criminal  coercion. 
1 .  A person is  gu i lty of a class A m isdemeanor if, with intent to compel another to engage 

in or refrain from conduct, he threatens to: 
a .  Commit any crime;  
b. Accuse anyone of a crime; 
c .  Expose a secret or publ icize an asserted fact, whether true or fa lse, tend ing to 

subject any person, l iv ing or deceased, to hatred , contempt, or rid icu le, or to 
impai r  another's credit or business repute; or 

d .  Take o r  withhold official action as  a publ ic servant or cause a publ ic servant to 
take or withhold official action.  

2 .  I t  is an affirmative defense to a prosecution under  th is  section that the actor be l ieved , 
whether  or not m istaken ly: 
a. That the pr imary purpose of the threat was to cause the other to conduct h imself 

in  h is own best i nterest; or  
b .  That a purpose of  the  threat was to cause the other to  des ist from misbehavior, 

engage in  behavior from wh ich he  could not lawfu lly absta in, make good a wrong 
done by h im, or refrain from taking any action or respons ib i l ity for wh ich he was 
disqualified . 

1 2.1 -1 7-07. Harassment. 
1 .  A person is gu i lty of an offense if, with intent to frighten or harass another, the person : 

a .  Communicates in writi ng o r  by  e lectronic communication a threat to infl ict i nju ry 
on any person,  to any person's reputation, or to any property; 

b .  Makes a telephone cal l  anonymously o r  in  offensively coarse language; 
c. Makes repeated telephone ca l ls or other electronic commun ication, whether or 

not a conversation ensues,  with no purpose of leg itimate commun ication ; or 
d .  Commun icates a falsehood in  writing or  by electronic commun ication and causes 

mental angu ish .  
2 .  The offense is a class A misdemeanor i f  i t  is under subd ivision a of  subsection 1 or  

subsection 4 .  Otherwise it is a class B misdemeanor. 
3. Any offense defined here in and committed by use of electronic communication may be 

deemed to have been committed at  either the place at  which the electron ic 
commun ication was made or at the place where the e lectronic commun ication was 
received . 



J�·UH-01 .4. Driving whi le under the influence of alcohol while being accompanied by 
. a m inor - Penalty. 

It is a class A misdemeanor for an individual who is at least twenty-one years of age to 
violate section 39-08-0 1 if the violation occurred while a minor was accompanying the individual 
in a motor vehicle . If an individual has a previous conviction for a violation of section 39-08-01 .4, 
a violation of this section is a class C felony. An individual convicted under this section must be 
sentenced in accordance with subsection 5 of section 39-08-0 1 .  

39-08-01 .5. Partial suspension of sentence for drug court completion. 
1 .  Notwithstanding section 39-08-0 1 , all but ten days of the minimum mandatory 

sentence required for a defendant charged with a third or subsequent violation of 
section 39-08-01 may be suspended on the condition the defendant successfully 
completes a drug court program approved by the supreme court. 

2. For purposes of this section , unless the context otherwise requires, "drug court 
program" means a district court-supervised treatment program approved by the 
supreme court which combines judicial supervision with alcohol and drug testing and 
chemical add iction treatment in a licensed treatment program. The supreme court may 
adopt rules, including rules of procedure, for drug courts and the drug court program. 

39-08-02. Person conveying passengers not to engage drivers addicted to intoxicants 
- Penalty. 

No person owning or having the direction or control of any vehicle for the conveyance of 
passengers in this state may employ or continue  in the person's employment as a driver of such 
vehicle any person who is known to the actor to be addicted to a controlled substance or given 
to the excessive use of controlled substances or intoxicating liquors. Any person violating the 
provisions of this section is guilty of an infraction and is liable for all damages sustained by 
reason of such violation . 

39-08-03. Reckless driving - Aggravated reckless driving - Penalty. 
Any person is guilty of reckless driving if the person drives a vehicle : 
1 .  Recklessly in disregard of the rights or safety of others; or 
2 .  Without due caution and circumspection and at a speed or in a manner so as to 

endanger or be likely to endanger any person or the property of another. 
Except as otherwise herein provided, any person violating the provisions of this section is guilty 
of a class B misdemeanor. Any person who, by reason of reckless driving as herein defined, 
causes and inflicts injury upon the person of another, is guilty of aggravated reckless driving, 
and is guilty of a class A misdemeanor. 

39-08-03.1 . Exhibition driving and drag racing - Definitions - Penalty. 
1 .  No person may engage in exhibition driving of any vehicle on a highway, street, alley, 

sidewalk, or any public or private parking lot or area, nor may any person engage in a 
race, a speed competition , drag race or acceleration contest, test of physical 
endurance, or exhibition of speed or acceleration .  Any person who violates this section 
by engaging in an act defined by subdivision b of subsection 2 must be assessed a fee 
of fifty dollars. Any person who violates this section by engaging in an act defined by 
subdivision a or c of subsection 2 must be assessed a fee of one hundred dollars. 

2 .  As used in this section : 
a .  "Drag race" means t�e operation of two or more vehicles from a point  side by 

side by accelerating rapidly in a competitive attempt to cause one vehicle to 
outd istance the other; or the operation of one or more vehicles over a common 
selected course from the same point to the same point for the purpose of 
comparing the relative speed or powers of acceleration of such vehicle or 
vehicles within a certain distance or time limit. 

b .  "Exhibition driving" means driving a vehicle in a manner which disturbs the peace 
by creating or causing unnecessary engine noise, tire squeal, skid, or slide upon 
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Penalties by Cla_ss ification of Offense 

1 2. 1 -32-01 . Classification of offenses - Penalties . Offenses are d ivided into 
seven classes , which are denominated and subject to maximum penalties, as 
follows: 

1 .  Class AA felony - maximum - l ife imprisonment without parole 
The court must designate whether the l ife imprisonment sentence 
imposed is with or without an opportunity for parole. 

2. Class A felony - maximum - 20 years, a fine of $20,000 ,  or  both 

3. Class B felony - maximum - 1 0  years, a fine of $20,000, or both 

4. Class C felony - maximum - 5 years ,  a fine of $ 1 0 ,000 ,  or both 

5 .  Class A misdemeanor - maximum - 360 days; a - fine of $3 ,000, or 

both 

6 .  Class 8 misdemeanor - maximum - 30 days, a fine of $ 1 , 500 or both 

7. Infraction - $ 1 ,000 fine 

January 201 9 
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H8rild 
Two facing charges after 
allegedly fleeing police in 

stolen car 
By Tess WIiiiams on Mar 12. 201 9  at 7:46 a.m. 

iSlock.com/Chalabala 

Two people are facing charges after they fled from 
police in a stolen car, according to a press release 
from the Grand Forks Police Department. 

Police found a stolen car parked on the 1 1 00 block of 
Sixth Avenue North around 9 p.m. Monday, the 
release said. The car had its license p lates removed, 
but the release said it fit the description of a report 
taken by UNO police . 

Just before 1 1  p.m. Michael John SebJomson, 33, got 
into the car and police allegedly tried to pull him over, 
but he refused . Police said they followed the car until 
it reached the 2600 block of Second Avenue North , 
where Sebjornson crashed into a snowbank. 

Sebjornson is facing charges of aggravated reckless 
driving, fleeing in a motor vehicle, possession of 
stolen vehicle and driving under suspension , and he 
had warrants for theft and possession of 
methamphetamine paraphernalia, the re lease said. 

The passenger, 30-year-old Jeremy Nelson, was also 
arrested and is facing a charge of possession of 
rnethamphetamine paraphernalia. 

The Grand Forks County Sheriffs Office and UNO 
Police assisted during the call . The release said the 
vehicle was returned to its owner. 

Sebjornson has previously pleaded guilty to 
methamphetamine-related charges and fleeing from 
police. 

\ l  
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Man facing charges after deputies say he tried to flee in stole 
car 
By Tess Williams on Mar 1 3, 201 9  at 9:01 a.m. 

Andrew Collison 

A Fargo man is facing charges after he al legedly tried to flee from deputies in a stolen car, according to a press re lease 

from the Grand Forks County Sheriffs Office. 

Andrew John Patrick Col l ison, 23, is facing felony charges of crim inal mischief, fleeing and possession of a stolen 

vehicle. He is also facing misdemeanor counts of reckless endangerment, reckless driving, possession of 

methamphetamine parapherna lia and d riving under suspension . 

A deputy noticed a stolen car i n  Larimore, N .D . ,  around 2:30 a .m.  Wednesday and saw two people get in around 4 a .m .  

and  try to d rive away, the release said . The deputies tried to  box the car i n  when they say Col l ison accelerated in  reverse 

and struck the patrol car. Col l ison's vehicle was stopped and he was arrested , the re lease said .  

The patrol vehicle has  minor damage, and the release said no one was i njured . 

Col l ison had four felony warrants from Burleigh and Cass counties related to drugs, fleeing and theft. 

\ B  



·oriver charged in Grand Forks high-speed chase 
By Forum staff reports on Nov 18, 201 8  at 5:50 p,m. 

GRAND FORKS - On Saturday, Nov. 1 7, officers tried to pull over a vehicle about 1 1  :55 p .m. after it failed to stop 

ed light at the intersection of Campbell Drive and South Washington Street. 

The vehicle proceeded to go through mult iple stop lights and stop signs, according to the release. 

During the chase, the vehicle struck the porch of a residence and hit a stopped patrol vehicle in the area. The 
driver of the vehicle parked i n  an alley on South 1 0th Street, where he fled on foot. 

Officers were able to track the suspect, ident ified as Cory Hanson,  through shoeprints in the snow. 

Hanson was transported to the Grand Forks County Correct ional Center and was charged with driving under the 
i nfluence, reckless endangerment, reckless driving, preventing arrest, leaving the scene of an accident on two 
occasions and fleeing i n  a motor vehicle. 

No one was injured in the i ncident and the investigation is ongoing.  Anyone with information is asked to contact 
Grand Forks police. 

https://www.grandforksherald.com/news/crime-and-courts/4531139-driver-charged-grand-forks-h!gh-speed-chase 1/1 
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ND Hiahway Patrol arrests Nebraska man after 

. . . � . .  �t1""J chase 
By Robin Huebner on Apr 22,  201 8  at 6:26 p.m. 

Daniel Rosseter, 32. of Omaha, Neb. 

FARGO-The North Dakota H ighway Patrol was involved in its second high speed chase in this area in a matter of hour 

The Patrol said it received a complaint of a reckless driver just after 1 1  :30 p.m. on Saturday, Apri l  2 1 . 

A trooper located the vehicle, traveling over 1 1 0  mph on eastbound I nterstate 94 near Casselton ,  N .D .  

The trooper tried to  stop the 2006 Honda CR-V, but the driver kept going. 

Troopers used a spike strip tire deflation device to d isable the vehicle near the Mapleton exit after a 20 mile pursu it. 

Daniel Rosseter, 32, of Omaha, Neb.  was taken into custody for fleeing a police officer and reckless driving .  

There were no i njuries. 

Earlier in the day Saturday, the Patrol arrested a driver fo llowing a 25-mile-long chase that reached a top speed of 1 06 

mph. 

That pursuit, which began around 1 :50 p .m . ,  on northbound Highway 1 8, south of Casselton ,  ended at Sanford Medical 

Center in Fargo. 

Joshua Wolters , 2 1 , of Enderl in ,  N .D . ,  was arrested on charges of DU I ,  driving under suspension ,  fleeing a pol ice officer 

and reckless driving .  

i.o 
https://www.westfargopioneer.com/news/4435335-nd-highway-patrol-arrests-nebraska-man-after-high-speed-chase 1/1  



Minot Daily News 
BREAKING NEWS Major winter storm wreaks havoc on travel 

Man arrested fol lowing h igh-speed 

pursuit on US Highway 83 in McLean 

County 

WASHBURN - A  29-year-old West Fargo man was arrested and is being held in the McLean 

County Detention Center following a pursuit by county officers when the man was driving the 

wrong way on the one-way roadway at speeds near 100 mph Tuesday night. 

According to a news release from the McLean County Sheriffs Department, at about 10 :22 

p.m. Tuesday, the McLean County Law Enforcement Center received several 911 calls from the 

public concerning a reckless driver traveling at a high rate of speed going south on the 

northbound roadway of U.S. Highway 83, near Coleharbor. 

The vehicle, a 1997 Mercury Cougar passenger vehicle, was encountered by units of the 

McLean County Sheriffs Department near the Riverdale turn-off where the driver refused to 

stop. The vehicle continued traveling the wrong way on the one-way roadway at speeds near 

100 mph. Additional responding units attempted to stop and warn approaching traffic until 

tire spike-strips could be deployed in the Falkirk area. 

Following the successful spike-strip deployment, the vehicle continued in the same manner 

until the driver lost control in Washburn proper. The car entered the ditch, struck a delineator 

post and adjacent fence. The vehicle became disabled and the driver, Justin Gladue of West 

Fargo, was taken into custody following a Taser deployment. 

Gladue is being held in the McLean County Detention Center on several driving, conduct and 

drug- related offenses as well as for outstanding warrants for his arrest. 

A female passenger in the vehicle, Ravan Ware, 23, address unknown, was detained and taken 

to a Bismarck hospital for examination and later served outstanding warrants for her arrest. 

The North Dakota Highway Patrol and Washburn Ambulance Service assisted at the scene. 

'Z.\ 
http://www.minotdailynews.com/news/local-news/201 8/1 1 /man-arrested-following-high-speed-pursuit-on-us-highway-83-ln-mclean-counrtl 1 /1 
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High speed chase ends at casino 

JACK DURA Bismarck Tribune Dec 1, 2017 

I TRY 1 MONTH FOR 99¢ 

Officers from four agencies scrambled over State Highway 1 806 Thursday 

morning in pursuit of a fleeing vehicle whose driver now faces a raft of charges. 

Matthew Ford Mize, 34, of Minot, is charged with seven offenses, including 

felony counts of reckless endangennent and fleeing or attempting to elude a 

police officer as well as misdemeanor counts of false reports to law enforcement, 

fleeing or attempting to elude a police officer, reckless driving, driving under 

suspension and possession of marijuana. 

Morton County sheriff's deputies took up the chase after 8:30 a.m. Thursday 

when Mandan Police ended their pursuit southbound on Highway 1 806. 

Court documents say Mize continued to flee from deputies, even after losing 

control on gravel and sliding into a ditch. Morton County reported he fled at 

speeds up to 80 to 90 mph. 

Officers successfully spiked Mize 's tires, but he allegedly continued to flee even 

with just rims on his front wheels. 

North Dakota Highway Patrol and the Bureau of Indian Affairs also joined the 

pursuit, which ended near Prairie Knights Casino. A vehicle search reportedly 

yielded a small amount of marijuana in a backpack. 

Mandan Police originally tried to pull Mize over for driving a suspicious vehicle 

before he allegedly fled out of city limits. 

He is held at the Burleigh-Morton County Detention Center, pending $10,000 

cash bond. 

Reach Jack Dura at 701-250-8225 or jack.dura@bismarcktribune.com. 
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'Deputy was allegedly dragged by car before 

,.�.�-�f!:,�,�hase in Grand Forks 

Amanda Marie Marzolf 

nd Forks woman is facing charges stemming from an incident in which she al legedly dragged an officer a short 

d istance with her car before lead ing police on a high-speed chase. 

Amanda Marie Marzolf, 26, is facing felony charges for fleeing police, reckless endangerment and simple assault. If 
convicted , she cou ld face up to five years in prison for each charge. 

A deputy was on h is way to serve a warrant to a Haley Lanes on Dec. 1 O and saw her get into a car with two other women, 
an affidavit said . 

When the deputy approached and told Lanes to get out of the car's backseat she leaned toward the middle of the vehicle and 
held on,  according to a court document. The deputy began to pul l  Lanes from the car, but the driver, Marzolf, abruptly 
accelerated , the affidavit said. 

The deputy was dragged a short distance and knocked to the ground, according to the affidavit. He said his left shoulder, hip, 
hand and knee hurt and his knee was bruised. 

Deputies cal led off a chase because of high speeds and said Marzolf ran multiple stop signs, nearly h it several vehicles and 
entered a school zone. 

ffidavit said Marzolf had an active warrant and she has previously faced drug-related charges. 

Lanes and Marzolf are facing misdemeanor charges for refusal to halt. Marzolf is scheduled to enter a plea on Jan. 22. 

'Z-3 
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Man accused of leading high-speed chase with infant in 
114  

By Tess Williams on Dec 26 ,  201 8  at  1 0:59 a .m. 

iStock.com/Chalabala 

A Fort Totten ,  N .D . ,  man is facing a felony charge after allegedly knocking over an officer and lead ing police on 

high-speed chase while an infant was in his car. 

A c riminal complaint said Dylan James Herman fled when a Devils Lake police officer tried to stop him in the 
Leevers South parking lot Dec. 1 7 . Herman allegedly sped away in  a 2006 Chevy Impala and knocking over the 
officer, who was standing next to the car. 

An infant about 6 months old was in the back of the car in a baby carrier that was not secured in place, the 
complaint said. 

Herman hit speeds of over 1 00 mph as he drove south on North Dakota Highway 20, and police stopped the 
chase near Spirit Lake Casino because of concerns for public safety and the infant, the complaint said .  

Herman's l icense was suspended during the chase. He's facing a felony reckless endangerment charge and 
misdemeanor charges for fleeing, false reports to pol ice and driving under suspension. He could spend up to five 
years in prison for the felony charge. 

Charges were filed Friday in Ramsey County, but Herman had not been arrested as of Wednesday morn ing .  

2. L-\ 
https://www.grandfor1<sherald.com/news/crime-and-courts/4548362-man-accused-leading-high-speed-chase-infant-his-car 1 /1 
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BURLEIGH COUNTY 
SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT 

Hto  / Z t:J  (J, 

'3 · l B ·  1 9  

KELLY LEBEN 
SHERIFF 

Test imony i n  s uppo rt of House B i l l  1296 

I am  test ifyi ng  i n  s upport of HB 1296, wh ich  i s  a b i l l  to amend  39-10-7 1, North  Da kota ' s  F l ee i ng  

or  attem pt i ng  to a e lude a peace officer .  

I h ave been with the  Bu r le igh County Sheriff' s Depa rtment  for over 21 yea rs and h ave served in 

a var i ety of d iffe rent pos it ions  with i n  our depa rtment .  I h ave served as  a patro l  deputy, a n  

i nvest igato r, a Patro l  Sergeant, Warra nts Sergeant, Patro l  L ie uten a nt a nd  now t h e  Major  o f  the  

Enforcement D iv i s i o n .  Over  the yea rs se rvi ng  i n  th ese a l l  of  these pos it ions  I h ave had  a d i rect 

contact a n d  d i rect expe rience with dea l i ng  with flee i ng  su bjects a nd  veh ic le  p u rsu its . 

Li ke so many othe r  l aw enforcement agenc ies ou r  depa rtment ha s  gone  from the  occas io n a l  

fl ee i ng  veh i c l e  t o  a po int  a t  wh ich fl ee ing  veh ic les a n d  po l ice p u rsu its h ave become a regu l a r  

occu rrence .  These peop le  choose not t o  stop for a var iety o f  reasons b u t  none  a re worth  t h e  

r i sk t h ey a re creat i ng .  These i n d ivid ua l s  t hat choose t o  fl ee from l aw  enforcement  i n  a veh i c l e, 

not o n ly put themse lves a nd  law enfo rcement at r i sk b ut a l l  of o u r  com m u n it i es, wh ich i n c l udes 

you r  fa m i ly, fri e nd s  a nd  loved ones .  No  one  i s  com p lete ly i m m u n e  a nd  at a moment ' s  not ice 

you or  you r  loved one cou l d  be d i rect ly affected by one of these su bjects .  

With the i n crease i n  su bjects fl ee ing in motor veh i c l es, it has fo rced our agency to adj u st 

tact i cs a nd  p roced u res .  For ou r  agency, many of t he  su bjects t h at h ave fled from us,  typ i ca l l y  

fl ee towa rds city l im its, wh i ch  we know i n creases t he  d anger a nd  i n  many cases, t h i s  r i sk 

outwe ighs  the benefit . I n  th ese cases the  p u rsu it i s  typ i ca l l y  term i n ated and the  su bj ect 

rema i n s  at l a rge a nd  we work d i l igent ly to i nvest igate the  case i n  hopes of l ater  app rehend i ng  

the  suspect . 

With t he  amount of d a nger that is p l a ced on  ou r  com m u n it ies  d u ri ng  these i n c i dents coup l ed  

with the  amount of  t ime  and  energy spent  dea l i ng  with these fl ee ing  su bjects, there needs  to  

be  a cha nge .  These  i n d ivi d u a l s need to be he l d  to a l eve l  o f  accountab i l i ty t hat i s  p roport io n a l  

a n d  app rop r iate t o  the  amount of d a nger t hey a re expos i ng  o u r  com m u n ity to. Th is  change 

sta rts with the  p roposed amendments to 39- 10-7 1 .  

S i n ce re ly, 

Major  J im  H u l m  

Bu r le igh Cou nty Sheriff' s Dept .  

514 E. Thayer • PO Box 1416 
Bismarck, ND 58502-1416 
P 701-222-6651 • F 701-221-6899 

www.facebook.com/BurleighCountySheriffsDepartment 

BURLEIGH MORTON 
DETENTION CENTER 

4000 Apple Creek Road • PO Box 2499 
Bismarck, ND 58502-2499 

P 701-255-3113 • F 701-258-5319 
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' r1c· f 1-mtin " Police Department 

From : Dave Draovitch 
Ch ief of Police 

March 1 8 , 20 1 9  

To: Senator Diane Larson, Chair, and Members of the Judiciary Committee 

Subj :  HB 1 296 

I come before you today to seek your support of HB 1 296. I am nearly e ight months into my appointment 
as the Chief of the Bismarck Police Department. The Monday after my appointment Deputy Chief Randy 
Ziegler, the Deputy Chief of Field Services for our department, gave me a few reviews he conducted 
about operators fleeing in their vehicles from our officers. He and a supervisor conduct a review every 
time a fleeing incident occurs . The next day he gave me a few more reviews . The next week he gave me 
a few more reviews. I couldn 't bel ieve what I was seeing. The prior 5 ½ years I was the Deputy Chief of 
the Support Services Division of the department. I had heard of vehicle operators fleeing from our 
officers but I had no idea the extent of which it was occurring. Our c itizens and officers are at great risk 
of serious bodily in jury or death just about every time one of these incidents occurs . 

Representative Mock brought forth HB 1 296 which I believed would help deter such actions. Many law 
enforcement agencies testified in favor of the bi l l .  Everyone testifying provided simi lar examples and 
concerns for the safety of their citizens and officers. The House Judic iary amended the bi l l  and the b i l l  
was passed in  the House of Representatives. HB 1 296, in  i t s  current form, is  everyth ing we need to help 
deter such activity . The statute, 3 9- 1 0-7 1 ,  in its current form, does not deter operators from fleeing in 
their vehicle .  The first offense is a class A misdemeanor and if an operator is caught but has no other 
similar offenses in three years and one day; a similar offense would be a class A misdemeanor again. HB 
1 296 wil l  al low a felony charge for a first offense should the operator operate the vehicle in a manner that 
risks death or serious bodily injury to a third person. 

I bel ieve recent legislative sessions have attempted to lessen the amount of charges people face and look 
to correct behavior in a rehabi l itative manner. I believe this  bill will help with that phi losophy. This bi l l  
a l l ows us to charge the operator with this offense only, which wi l l  be appropriate in most instances. As 
the statute reads now, in order to  charge someone that puts a third person at  risk of death or  serious bodily 
injury, we have to also charge the person with Reckless Endangerment, or simi lar offense, as wel l as the 
Fleeing or attempting to elude offense. However, there will be times when additional charges will be 
necessary. That would be in instances when other serious criminal conduct has occurred. 

L ieutenant Jeff Solemsaas, our Traffic Commander, has put together video cl ips of these types of 
incidents that have occurred in Bismarck. Sadly, this i s  a very smal l sample of these very dangerous 
incidents .  

)ave Draovitch, Chief of Police 
\ 
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· One inc ident he wi l l  show you involves two of our officers. When you see that video, please imagine 
what happened to them as happening to your fami ly, friends or other loved ones .  J t 's a very real 
poss ibi l ity and is  one of our biggest fears at the Bismarck Pol ice Department. 

I thank you for the time I have been allowed to provide information about thi s  bi l l  and I thank you for 
cons idering  supporting it. 

If you have any questions feel free to contact me at your convernence. I may be reached at 
ddraovitch@bismarcknd .gov or 70 1 -223- 1 2 1 2 . 

Respectfully, 

DA VE DR.AOVITCH 
Chi'2f of Pol ice 
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Madam Cha i r  La rson a nd members of the J ud ic ia ry Comm ittee, 

For the record, my name is Jeff Solemsaas. I am a Lieutena nt with the Bisma rck Pol ice depa rtment a nd 
have been i n  l aw enforcement for 26 yea rs. I am  here to voice support of House b i l l  1296. As a pa rt of 
my duties I have comp l ied and  conducted a n  ana lysis n umbers of peop le flee ing i n  motor veh ic les from 
the office rs of the Bismarck Pol ice Depa rtment and  have done so for the l ast 6 yea rs. 

I can exp l a i n  from fi rsthand knowledge that  the occur rence flee ing  in a motor veh ic le has grown 
exponent ia l ly i n  the last severa l yea rs. For some b rief background, the Bisma rck Pol ice department is 
requ i red to track and document a l l  i nsta nces i n  wh ich a d river f lees from an officer when a t raffic stop is 
attempted . Ou r  cu rrent pol icy is somewhat restricted in that officers a re on ly  a l lowed to engage in a 
veh ic le pu rsuit i n  l im ited c i rcumsta nces. Beca use of our  accred itat ion status we a l so track the 
c i rcumsta nces i nvolved i n  each of  those occur rences. 

When I fi rst ·sta rted to compi le  the statist ics I noted that there were 20 i nsta nces in 2014 in wh ich  the 
d river of a veh ic le fled from officers. I n  2018 that n umber  has i nc reased to 163 i nsta nces. I n  just the l ast 
yea r the n umber  i ncreased from 2017 i n  wh ich  there were 115  occu rrences, a 41% i nc rease .  The cha rt 
that I 've attached be low demonst rates the i nc rease i n  the n u m ber  of veh ic les fleei ng from ou r  officers. 

N u m be r  of F l ee i ng/ Atte m pts to E l u d e  
180  

1 60 

1 -40 

1 2 0  
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40 71  
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20 
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2 0 18 2 0 17 2 0 16 2 0 15 2 0 14 

I n  p repa ration for th is  hea ri ng I a l so gather  a sma l l  port ion of video from the depa rtments i n  ca r camera 
system .  The videos that you see today a re on ly a sma l l  portion of what the officers a re see i ng  on a n  ever 
i ncreas ing occu rrence. The videos a lso do not i nd icate the ha rmfu l a nd  da ngerous effect that  the d rivers 
of flee ing  veh ic les p l ace on officers and unsuspect ing mem ber of the commun ity. Too many t imes the 
d river of  the flee ing veh ic le p l aces others at r isk of  i nj u ry or  death .  Even if the fleei ng veh ic le  does not 
str ike a nother vehic le d rivers ca n be ca ught u nawa re of the speed and  reck less manner  in which the 
flee ing d river is operat i ng  at and  ca n ta ke avoida nce ma neuver that p l aces themse lves and others a r i sk  . 
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Since the time that I have been com piling the data I noted that there have been 4 incidents in which an 
officer of civi lian have been inj ured by the driver of the fleeing vehicle. I a lso found  that there have been 
20 instances in which the driver of the fleeing vehicle has damaged either city or private ly owned 
property as resu lt  of their actions .  These are a l l  from co l lisions that the fleeing driver has been invo lved 
in. U nfortu nate ly we have not tracked the n um ber of co l lisions that occur because of the driving of the 
fleeing operator but I know of severa l occasions  in which another driver not invo lved in the incident 
have tried to take an evasive action because of the fleeing drivers manner of operation and have been 
invo lved in col lisions .  

The driver of the fleeing vehicle i s  not  on ly fleeing from a traffic citation .  I n  2018 there were 2 1  ( 13% ) 
instances in which the driver fled in a motor vehicle because of a criminal vio lation .  O bvious ly the 
largest n u m bers of drivers are fleeing because of a traffic vio lation but there is often the u nanswered 
question of who the driver is and why are they fleeing. Because of our po licy we may never know the 
answer to that question .  

The drivers o f  fleeing vehicle are c lear ly p lacing the lives o f  pub lic a nd  law enforcement a t  risk because 
of the manner in which they are driving to f lee from officers. There is the believe that the consequences 
of fleeing in a motor vehicle are not sufficient to deter a driver from fleeing, "even if I 'm caught nothing 
wil l  happen to me", is the common feeling. Several officers I have spoken  with relate stories of drivers 
that inform the officer that they wil l  flee because they know that the Bismarck Po lice do  not genera l ly 
pursue fleeing vio lators. The stories continue with the statement that even if the driver is caught the 
penalties are not severe enough to comp ly with the order to halt . 

I urge you to support House bil l 1296 and ho ld  the drivers of fleeing responsib le for their reckless and 
dangerous behavior . 



House Bil l 1 296 
Senate J udiciary Committee 
Senator Larson , Chairman 

March 1 8 , 201 9 

Good morn i ng Cha i rman Larson and members of the Senate Jud ic iary Comm ittee . My 
name is Major Tom Iverson ,  Ch ief of Operations for the North Dakota H ig hway Patro l .  I 
am here today to p rovide agency test imony for House B i l l  1 296 . 

House B i l l  1 296 provides for an enhanced pena lty for a d river who wi l lfu l ly operates 
their  veh icle in a manner  constituti ng an i nherent r isk of death or serious bod i ly i nj u ry to 
a th i rd person . 

Throughout 201 7 ,  the h ighway patro l  issued 52 citat ions to i nd iv id ua ls who v io lated 
NDCC 39- 1 0-7 1 . 46 citat ions were issued in 20 1 8  for the same offense.  

When d rivers make the decis ion to flee from law enforcement ,  the decis ion affects more 
than themselves . F lee ing i n  a motor veh icle poses an extreme danger  not on ly to 
themselves , but to any other occupants i n  the veh ic le , the officers pu rsu i ng  that veh ic le , 
and the pub l ic .  

Th roughout 201 7 ,  troopers documented 94 incidents where they were either the p rimary 
un it or secondary un it invo lved i n  a pu rsu it .  65 i ncidents were documented th roughout 
201 8 .  During these responses , troopers attempted to uti l ize a t i re deflat ion device 33 
t imes and the pursu it i ntervention techn ique (P IT) n i ne t imes.  Every one of these 
incidents put the pub l ic ,  the offender, the i r  passengers ,  and respond ing officers i n  
harm's way. 

When troopers engage in pu rsu its , they a re tasked with conti nua l ly assess ing  the 
hazards presented by the flee ing suspect, aga inst that created by the pu rsu it .  They are 
asked to look for ways to safe ly b ring  the pu rsu it to an  end . D ifferent techn iq ues a re 
uti l ized to accomp l ish th is i n  a safe manner .  The fi rst opt ion ava i lab le  to the officer is to 
s imp ly d isconti nue the pu rsu it .  Th is occu rs if the officer feels there is a g reater r isk to 
the pub l ic  by conti n u ing the pursu it .  Another opt ion wou ld  be if the officer is ab le to 
obta in  a descript ion of the d river and veh ic le ( l icense p late) and the reason for the 
pu rsu it doesn't j ustify conti nu i ng .  The officer wou ld  then d isconti nue  the pu rsu it and try 
to apprehend the suspect later. Another opt ion wou ld be for other  law enforcement u n its 
to uti l ize a ti re deflation device attempt ing to d isable the flee ing  suspect's veh ic le . Th is 
requ i res coord i nat ion with other troopers and agencies to ensure th is device is dep loyed 
in a safe manner for a l l  i nvo lved , to inc lude other motorists on the roadway. Depend ing 
on the reason for the stop ,  the natu re of the i n it iat ing event and  the associated r isk to 
the pub l ic ,  as we l l  as other  factors , troopers are tra i ned i n  the pu rsu it i ntervent ion 
techn ique (P IT) .  Th is techn ique ,  if p roperly executed , is a forced rotat iona l  veh ic le stop 
of a non-compl iant d river meant to stop the suspect d river from flee ing . Th is techn iq ue 
wou ld  on ly be used if the d river presents an immed iate danger  to others if they are not 
stopped . 

\ 



Fleeing i n  a motor veh ic le puts innocent l ives at risk .  Ou r  troopers a re tasked with 
making every reasonab le effort to apprehend the operator of a flee ing  veh icle ,  as we l l  
as  conti nua l ly assess ing  the  hazard p resented by  the  flee ing  suspect aga i nst that 
created by the pu rsu it .  

Cha i rman Larson ,  th is  conc ludes my test imony, and I wou ld be happy to answer any 
questions .  
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